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Our business is the high value
added design, conversion and
finishing of polymers or other
specialist materials into products
for strategically attractive 
niche markets. By outstanding 
performance for our customers
we will build strong international
market share positions. We will
maintain a focus on business-
to-business selling and improved
returns on capital. We will 
provide related services where
they can generate value for 
us and our customers.

Low & Bonar 

Highlights of the year
2004 2003

Turnover £202m £192m
Profit before tax and exceptionals £11.4m £10.1m
Earnings per share before exceptionals 7.72p 6.69p
Dividend per share 4.5p 4.2p
Net cash £15.0m £10.4m

1



I am pleased to report
that 2004 continued
the Group’s progress
started in 2003. 
Our pre-exceptional
earnings per share
growth of 15%
represents another
encouraging step
towards more
acceptable profitability
levels, especially in 
the context of the
twin challenges of
high raw material
prices and subdued
market demand. 
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Chairman’s statement

Turnover (£million)

Earnings per share before
exceptionals (pence)

Net cash (£million)

10.1
11.4

20042003

Profit before tax and
exceptionals (£million)

20042003

4.2 4.5

Dividend per share (pence)

2003

192

2004

202

2003

6.69

2004

7.72

2003

10.4

2004

15.0



Dividends
The Board is recommending a final ordinary dividend of 2.90p
(2003: 2.70p) payable on 27 April 2005 to shareholders on the
register on 1 April 2005, making a total ordinary dividend for the
year of 4.50p (2003: 4.20p). This is consistent with our stated
policy of increasing dividends prudently until an acceptable 
level of cover has been established. The dividend level for 2004 
is 1.72 times covered by pre-exceptional earnings per share.

European Commission update
As previously announced, the Group is one of a number 
of groups which has received a statement of objections from 
the European Commission investigating allegations of a cartel
relating to industrial bags, a market which the Group exited in
1997 following the sale of its Belgian packaging business to
British Polythene Industries PLC. The turnover of the Belgian
packaging business in 1997 was approximately £17m of which
industrial bags was a minority. The Company attended the oral
hearing of the European Commission in July 2004; a decision 
is expected from the European Commission during 2005.

Employees
Much hard work and dedication has been applied throughout
the Group to deliver this continued recovery. The Board is
grateful to all our employees for the positive way they have
responded to and implemented the many internally-driven
changes whilst coping with the demanding external factors
referred to earlier. We also welcome all those new employees 
of Low & Bonar from Yihua Bonar and ADFIL. Paul Forman will
refer to our increased focus and investment in training in his
Group Chief Executive’s review; this initiative is regarded by 
the Board as vital for sustaining and accelerating our progress,
and represents a significant break from past behaviours.

Outlook
We have demonstrated our capability to grow organically 
in markets that are, in general, linked to the health of the
European and North American industrial sectors and which 
have been broadly subdued. In aggregate we see little change to
this pattern. Mild recovery in Continental Europe might be offset
by a slight slowing of demand in the UK. Of greater significance
to our profitability in 2005 are our ability to gain market share,
control our operating costs and mitigate raw material price rises
through increasing selling prices. I place more reliance on our
ability to achieve these factors than on a major stimulus to our
markets from strong macro-economic recovery. At the time of
writing there are some tentative signs that the significant
escalation in our raw material prices over the last 12 months
may be easing and this would offer a benefit should they indeed
reduce slightly. Although there are some product or geographic
segments that we expect to show significant growth, our
medium-term prognosis remains one of positive but GDP 
driven growth. Progress will be driven in 2005 and beyond by
continued organic sales growth and productivity enhancements,
allied to further strategically attractive acquisitions in the Floors
and Yarns & Fabrics Divisions.

Duncan Clegg Chairman
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Within this positive overall achievement, specific highlights
include the level of organic sales growth being achieved in 
much of the Group, our continued control of operating costs,
and the strong performance on managing cash flow. This
progress is being underpinned by the further strengthening of
our management team. Our Yarns & Fabrics Division acquired
Yihua Bonar during the year and ADFIL shortly after the year end
and both of these will be earnings enhancing in the current year.
We will continue our focus on growing organically and through
acquisitions, making necessary investments in marketing and
product development to build our capabilities for sustaining
growth in the longer term, whilst also driving short-term
profitability.

Our Floors Division grew sales and maintained good margins
despite the anticipated dilutive impact of the MoD contract. 
The acquired carpet tiles business, Tessera, incurred a number of
one-off and structural additional costs as a result of warehousing
relocation and this reduced profit by £0.9 million. The rest of the
Division grew profit marginally despite a competitive pricing
environment and achieved its first year-on-year revenue growth
in five years.

Our Yarns & Fabrics Division successfully managed the challenges
of high raw material prices and tough markets to deliver an
excellent result, growing profit by some 50%. The Belgian
operation continued its strong recovery, the Dundee operation
grew sales and operating profit in a buoyant artificial grass
market and our Chinese acquisition, Yihua Bonar, met our
internal expectations. We look forward to seeing the progress 
of our most recent acquisition, in December 2004, of ADFIL, 
a business manufacturing and supplying specialist surface
protection fibres to the concrete industry.

Our Plastics Division continued its recovery with margins and
operating profit growing, despite high polyethylene costs,
although sales weakened. It is encouraging to note that,
following the introduction of a new Divisional management
structure, the Division enjoyed its best collective financial
performance for at least three years in the second half of 2004.

Financial performance
Turnover increased to £201.7m (2003: £191.7m), reflecting the
contribution of Yihua Bonar from July 2004, as well as stronger
organic growth. Operating profits before exceptional items
increased to £12.1m compared with £11.1m the previous year. 
This is after deducting a goodwill amortisation charge of £0.6m
(2003: £0.4m). Exceptional costs of £0.4m were incurred relating
to legal fees in connection with the Group’s defence against an
alleged infringement of European Union anti-competitive laws 
by a business disposed of in 1997.

Profit before tax was £10.9m (2003: £9.2m). Earnings per share
before exceptional items were 7.72p (2003: 6.69p). Profit after
tax, but before minority interests, grew to £7.5m (2003: £6.0m).
Basic earnings per share were 7.43p (2003: 6.05p).

Strong cash flow from operating activities of £21.4m aided the
achievement of a year end net cash balance of £15.0m, despite
more than £2m being spent on our acquisition of Yihua Bonar.
The acquisition of ADFIL in December 2004 consumed a further
£10m of this cash.



2004: a year of
continued progress
Low & Bonar has
continued to make
progress during 2004,
in particular with our
initiatives to drive
organic sales growth,
make strategically
valuable acquisitions
and to control
operating costs. 

4

Low & Bonar Annual report 2004

Group Chief Executive’s review of operations

Floors Division
2004 has seen an
improvement in
manufacturing
operations within the
Division with new state-
of-the-art production
equipment being added
as part of this process.

Yarns & Fabrics Division
The end of 2004 saw 
a commencement in 
a programme to upgrade
our non-woven technical
fabrics plant to provide
additional manufacturing
capacity and industry
leading quality.

Plastics Division
2004 saw strong
continued relationships
with a number of
leading customers,
highlighted here
between our Plastics
Manual Handling
Division and Peugeot
Citroen.

 



All of this has been achieved despite demanding conditions 
in our market places and with significant increases in key raw
material costs. The net result is a year-on-year increase of 5% 
in sales, 12% in pre-exceptional profit before tax and 15% 
in earnings per share before exceptional costs. Our year-end 
net cash position of £15m underlines the Group’s strong cash
generation capabilities, and has enabled us to remain effectively
ungeared despite acquiring ADFIL in December 2004. This
financial performance is being underpinned by increasing
investment in, and focus on, the calibre of our Divisional teams.
Given all the factors above, I remain confident that 2005 will 
see continued progress based on an increasingly strong set 
of foundations.

Organic sales growth
Floors, Yarns & Fabrics, and many of our Plastics businesses,
grew annual sales in the local reporting currencies despite
operating in many markets that showed no underlying growth,
especially in Continental Europe. This progress reflects the fact
that many of our businesses are market leaders in the attractive,
often fragmented, niche markets in which they operate, and 
are increasingly able to grow their market share through volume-
based gains. It is also the result of a much more structured
approach to identifying and exploiting avenues for growth 
which is being underpinned by an increased level of investment;
this will be covered in more detail in the Divisional summaries.
Significant additional investments, especially in our Floors and
Yarns & Fabrics Divisions are taking place in 2005 as we seek 
to build further on this progress and to take advantage of the
identified opportunities.

Additional acquisitions activity
In the latter half of 2004 we made two additions to our Group,
both in the Yarns & Fabrics Division. The first was the acquisition
in July of a 50.1% stake in a Chinese producer of technical
textiles. The business was formerly part of the Sinopec Group,
the major petrochemical group in China, and produces fabrics for
the carpet backing, sports grass and geotextiles industry. Sinopec
retains a 49.9% interest. Strategically, it positions the Yarns &
Fabrics Division well for cost-competitive expansion of all of its
activities in the high growth Asian markets. The second addition,
completed very shortly after our financial year end, was the
outright acquisition of LCM Construction Products Ltd, trading 
as ADFIL, in December 2004. ADFIL, a UK-based manufacturer 
of fibres that are added to concrete to enhance surface durability
and provide other structural benefits, fits well with the strategic
profile of our Yarns & Fabrics Division: it is a leading player in 
a global niche market based on converting polypropylene and 
is increasingly developing innovative new products. Both these
companies are performing to expectations and are expected to
enhance earnings in the current year. Looking ahead, our focus
on driving value-enhancing and strategically appropriate
acquisitions in Floors and Yarns & Fabrics will continue. 

Control of operating costs
Our pre-exceptional operating margin has been maintained 
at a similar level to 2003, despite certain key raw material prices
being almost 50% higher at the end of the year than they were
12 months previously. This was in part due to our ability to pass
some increased costs onto customers in the form of selling price
increases. However, it is also the result of a significant improvement
in all aspects of our efficiency and productivity, especially in
manufacturing and overheads. Our Plastics Division, for example,
has reduced its overhead base by 3% year-on-year without
incurring any significant one-off costs in achieving that result.

Personnel – training and development
I discussed in the last annual report our threefold internal focus
on creating a “delivery culture”, an improved “growth pipeline”
and on developing our management teams. We are committed
to improving the personal development opportunities for all our
employees over time and whilst I am satisfied with the progress
made towards the last goal we still have much work to do in this

area - with our senior management team the priority. Systematic
Group-wide appraisal and training programmes have been
initiated for the first time, and succession planning and
structured recruitment processes are also being introduced as
part of a comprehensive management development programme.

Furthermore, internal communications have been enhanced 
to ensure a greater level of corporate awareness and strategic
alignment throughout the Group. We are maintaining a central
budget to ensure an appropriate and continuing level of
investment in this vital area. 

2004 financial performance
As can be seen from the preceding commentary, we are
committed to balancing the need for short-term profit growth
with a general upgrading of our physical and intangible asset
base and capabilities to secure consistent progress in the coming
years. We have also invested in the further strengthening of 
our financial controls. As stated previously, despite a significant
escalation in raw material pricing and increased investment 
in growth initiatives and management development, pre-
exceptional before tax margins have improved from 5% to 6%
and pre-exceptional operating return on net operating assets 
has also increased from 12% to 13%. In our two most profitable
Divisions, Floors and Yarns & Fabrics, the aggregate level of
return on net operating assets averages over 20%. I was
particularly pleased with the progress made by the Yarns &
Fabrics Division which grew operating profit by 44% excluding
the impact of Yihua Bonar. Floors achieved operating margins of
12% (2003: 14%), despite £0.9m of costs related to the Tessera
warehouse relocation and the expected neutral 2004 profit
contribution from the MoD contract. This means that we now
have two of our three Divisions with a solid financial platform 
on which to build, whilst our Plastics Division has made good
progress with its recovery programme and grew profit margins 
in an unhelpful raw material environment. Exceptional costs of
£0.4m relate to the legal costs incurred in defending the Group
in an ongoing European Union investigation into alleged anti-
competitive practices; the business concerned was sold by Low 
& Bonar almost eight years ago and has no related activities 
to any of those currently performed by our Group. 

Our expectations for 2005 are of continued strategic and
financial progress driven by the factors mentioned above. 
The market environment is not expected to become significantly
more benign and raw materials are anticipated to remain at 
their current high levels for at least the first part of the year.
Furthermore some additional costs in supporting growth are
required to sustain our recovery. Nonetheless, I expect revenue
growth and continued progress on operating efficiencies to
offset these adverse factors, notwithstanding the fact that the
first half will be more significantly affected than the second.

Overall I remain confident that we are building an increasingly
strong base and that we can continue the progress of the last
two years, both through acquisition-led and internally driven
initiatives.

Paul Forman Group Chief Executive
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Specialist Materials

Yarns & Fabrics
Extrusion, non-woven and weaving technology are the core 
of the polypropylene yarns and fabrics business, which serves
specialised markets from three production facilities in Europe
and one in the People’s Republic of China.

Specialist Materials

Floors
Flooring solutions from entrance to exit provided by a global
sales and marketing organisation and six manufacturing sites 
in Europe.

Plastics
With twelve manufacturing sites in eight countries and 
substantial design experience, Bonar Plastics is well placed 
to meet its customers’ needs for both standard products 
and custom designed solutions through rotational moulding 
of plastic.
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Divisional review – Group structure

Yarns & Fabrics Division: Chantal Bottu, a Quality Controller
in the Finishing Department with 15 years’ service, pictured
here at Bonar Technical Fabrics, Zele, Belgium.

Floors Division: Kevin Palethorpe, a Laboratory Technician
with 25 years’ service, pictured at Bonar Floors, Ripley,
Derbyshire.

Plastics Division: Christophe Sauvage, Assistant Leader 
of Production Unit with six years’ service, pictured here 
at Bonar Plastics Nord, Annezin-les-Bethune, France.
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Floors Division brand names – what we make and where
l Flotex – made in UK and France

Unique performance by design
l Coral – made in the Netherlands

The flexible clean-off system
l Chocflex – made in France

The heavy-duty acoustic vinyl
l Nuway – made in UK

The engineered entrance system
l Tessera – made in UK

High performance carpet tiles for stylish commercial interiors

Our markets
l Healthcare
l Office
l Education
l Transport
l Public buildings
l Leisure and hospitality
l Retail
l Residential housing

Our businesses
l Bonar Technical Fabrics – made in Belgium

Non-woven geotextiles, non-woven secondary backing
l Bonar Technical Fabrics – made in Belgium

Woven geotextiles, woven greenhouse screens, woven ground covers,
woven industrial products

l Bonar Yarns & Fabrics – made in Scotland
Carpet yarn, grass yarn

l Yihua Bonar Yarns & Fabrics – made in China
Woven geotextiles, primary carpet backing, turf backing for 
artificial grass

Our markets
l Yarns

Carpet industry
Industrial textiles
Synthetic grass

l Technical fabrics
Horticultural
Civil engineering
Carpet industry
Industrial applications

Our products
l IBCs, hoppers and pallets
l Containers, tanks and drums
l Fuel tanks and vehicle body components
l Marine products
l Furniture
l Water treatment products

Our markets
l Chemicals
l Automotive
l Environmental
l Point of sale
l Food processing



Low & Bonar Annual report 2004

8

Floors Flooring solutions from 
entrance to exit provided by a global sales and 
marketing organisation and six manufacturing 
sites in Europe.

Specialist Materials business

Divisional review continued

 



1

2

Divisional turnover increased by 10% to £83.1m in 2004 (2003:
£75.3m), including a sales benefit of £4.2m from the full year
contribution of Tessera, our carpet tile business. Of this growth,
£3.4m arose from the new MoD contract that was awarded in
March 2004 but which started operationally in the second half
of the year. Divisional operating profit declined to £9.7m (2003:
£10.7m). Specific contributory factors, primarily in Tessera, will
be non-recurring. Operating margins remained strong at 12%
(2003:14%) and return on net operating assets was also 
healthy at 26% (2003: 27%).

Further progress was made with our initiatives to rebuild the asset
and skill base to drive organic sales growth. Significantly, our
original (i.e. pre-Tessera) Floors business, achieved sales growth
on a like-for-like basis for the first time in five years. Furthermore,
the original Floors business grew pre-exceptional operating profit
for the second year in a row after several years of continued decline.

The MoD contract is performing to our expectations: as anticipated,
set-up costs in 2004 have offset the additional operating profit
contribution but we will benefit financially in 2005 and, as
importantly, will be well positioned to pursue similar contracts.
Elsewhere in the original business, the UK and French contract
businesses grew satisfactorily, as did our non-European export
activities. Sales in Benelux and in our UK consumer products
were adversely impacted by subdued market demand and price
competition. As with our other Divisions, Floors has had to contend
with appreciable cost rises in raw materials but increased plant
utilisation and purchasing programmes helped to mitigate this. 

Our Tessera business was adversely impacted by the disruption
resulting from the physical relocation of a major warehouse
(envisaged at the time of acquisition). This completed the transition
of residual service links from the former parent company, Gaskell
PLC, but the changes to distribution arrangements and related
sales support infrastructure affected customer service levels and
negatively impacted sales. These disruptive issues have now been
addressed and indeed higher service levels and stock availability
than at any time are being achieved. 

The relocation of Tessera’s warehousing and distribution
arrangements incurred an additional cost and gave the chance 
to reappraise appropriate stock provision levels. The combined
net effect of these was to increase year-on-year costs and hence
reduce operating profit by approximately £0.9m. 

Much has been done to improve the manufacturing operations
across the Division; availability has improved, new state-of-the-
art production equipment has been added, health and safety
standards have been enhanced and stock control systems
implemented. These improvements, allied to a number of 
new management appointments, will underpin the continued
progress of Bonar Floors. 

Looking ahead, in 2005 we will continue to grow organically 
by focusing on attaining class-leading operational and selling
processes, a successful realisation of the first full year of the
MoD contract, increased investment in product range launches
and selectively upgrading our production capability to ensure
product differentiation. We will also continue to consider
opportunities for strategically complementary acquisitions.

1 Walked-in dirt and
moisture is responsible
for over 85% of flooring
maintenance costs and
adding an effective
entrance system will
prevent the majority 
of this damage.

2 In recent years there
has been a definite 
move towards textile
floorcoverings in
classrooms, creating 
a warmer environment,
which helps stimulate
learning.

3 There is a number 
of British standards that
cover sound levels within
commercial buildings.

Our Flooring Division
manufactures Chocflex,
an acoustically-backed
vinyl which aids in sound
absorption.

4 A new scheme from
Bonar Floors will enable
schools to give their
floors a full makeover
without spending 
the entire year’s
maintenance budget.

5 Tessera Carpet Tiles
with in-house design
expertise and highly
developed manufacturing
capability, offer superior
aesthetic styling for 
the most dynamic and
vibrant interiors.

Steve Argyle, a Printing
Technician with ten years’
service, pictured here at
our Ripley, Derbyshire
Flotex plant.
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Specialist Materials business

Yarns & Fabrics
Extrusion, non-woven and weaving technology are the core of the
polypropylene yarns and fabrics business, which serves specialised
markets from three production facilities in Europe and one in the
People’s Republic of China.
10
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1 This baggage tunnel at
Heathrow contains ADFIL
Polypropylene fibres. 
The fibres were added 
to the concrete to reduce
the effects of explosive
spalling in the event 
of a fire.

2 Bonar grass yarns 
are ideal landscape
applications delivering 
a realistic looking lawn with
no weeds, bare patches,
scorched or wet areas.

3 Bontec geotextiles, for
use as an erosion-control
product to resist damage
from fast-flowing water,
are pictured here in use
at Seef, Bahrain.

Including a four month contribution from Yihua Bonar, turnover
grew by 11% to £59.3m (2003: £53.3m). Divisional operating
profit grew by 51% to £5.3m (2003: £3.5m). Excluding Yihua
Bonar, sales and operating profit growth were 8% and 44%
respectively. Return on sales is now a much-improved 9% (2003:
7%) for the Division and the return on net operating assets grew
from 13% to 18%.

Most encouragingly, our Belgian business, the largest element 
of the Division, is continuing its strong recovery. This was in part
due to continuing progress in sales which commenced in the
latter part of 2003, driven especially by major new business in
industrial fabrics and by continued market growth and market
share gain in our geotextiles business. In addition, we continue
to make good progress in improving our manufacturing efficiencies.
These positive factors more than offset a significant escalation in
raw material prices. All other elements remained broadly neutral
year-on-year. At the end of the year we commenced a £2.5m
upgrade to our non-woven geotextile factory to provide additional
manufacturing capacity and industry-leading quality. This will
impact output at the plant in the first half of 2005 but will ensure
greater productivity in the longer term. We continue to focus 
on our initiatives to provide more value-added services across 
all our product segments – which benefits margins and ensures
differentiation.

Our Dundee yarns business also made very good progress in 2004.
Volumes increased by almost 15% year-on-year with carpet backing
holding steady and grass yarns continuing the very strong growth
of recent years. This volume growth, allied to the fact that we were
able to pass on much of our raw material cost increases via higher
selling prices, gave us significant manufacturing efficiencies and
meant we could offset the negative impact of having a large 
US dollar revenue stream. The investment in capacity expansion
to satisfy this growing demand that took place in early 2004 
was executed to plan and further investment will take place 
in early 2005.

The first few months of trading of Yihua Bonar proved very
satisfactory and in line with our expectations. All three main
product areas, carpet backing, artificial grass pitch backing 
and geotextiles, performed well and we are improving the
financial controls and operational efficiencies of the business.
The underlying demand from the domestic Chinese market,
which is the source of over 80% of sales, has held up well
throughout our period of involvement.

The acquisition of LCM Construction Products Ltd, trading as
ADFIL, took place in December 2004 immediately after our year
end. We are working to ensure that ADFIL gets the benefits of
being part of a larger business, and that the anticipated
synergies are delivered.

Our strategy for developing a portfolio of global specialist technical
textile, yarn and fibre producers within this Division continues, with
both successful organic expansion of the Belgian and Dundee
businesses and the two recent acquisitions. We will continue to
invest to support growth, increasing product differentiation and
further product innovation in 2005. Acquisitions in segments
that are consistent with this strategy or with geographic
expansion of our core activities will continue to be pursued.

1

2

3
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Luc Princen, a Fiberline
and Non-woven
Operator with 13 years’
service pictured here 
at our Belgian
manufacturing site.

4 Screens are essential 
to modern horticulture
because of their positive
influence on the
greenhouse climate and
the high energy-savings
generated from their 
use during cold nights.

5 Our products have been
at the heart of synthetic
playing surfaces
throughout the world at
every level of competition
in a variety of sports.



Plastics With twelve manufacturing sites in eight 
countries and substantial design experience, we are well placed to 
meet our customers’ needs for both standard products and custom 
designed solutions through rotational moulding of plastic.

Low & Bonar Annual report 2004

Divisional review continued
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1 Rotational Moulding is
a high-tech process that
economically fabricates
diverse products that are
virtually impossible to
manufacture in other
plastics applications.

2 With the continued
increase in air pollution,
“zero-emission” vehicle
solutions are always
welcome. The Velotaxi
combines bicycle
technology with
rotomoulding to create 
a vehicle licensed for
public traffic.

3 Christian Lienard 
and Mario LeClercq,
Manufacturing Operators
with six and nine years’
service respectively.

Operational profit increased by 7% to £1.2m in 2004 versus the
previous year (2003: £1.2m), despite a decline in turnover of
6% to £59.2m (2003: £63.0m) Operating profit margins of 2%
(2003: 2%) compare with an operating loss of 1% two years
ago. North American Plastics had a strong second half and
consequently recovered to hold local currency profit year-on-year
despite a poor first half; North European Plastics grew slightly 
as its continued progress was hampered by sluggish demand
and pricing pressures in Holland and Germany in particular. 
Our French business remained at breakeven despite a revenue
decline driven by price competition and low market demand for
material handling products, especially in chemical distribution.
Our Spanish operation was loss-making at a local operating
profit level, although it is responding well to a change of
management and is recovering satisfactorily. Other positive
developments included the continued emergence of Poland 
as a low-cost manufacturing base and as an entry point to
Eastern European markets, the continued recovery of our Danish
business, and the progress of our US West Coast operations.

Good progress in improving operational productivity, cost control
and financial discipline has been offset in almost equal measure
by unprecedentedly high levels of polyethylene pricing.
Encouraging operational progress has been made under 
Steve Good, who was appointed Divisional Managing Director
almost a year ago, with second-half performance proving the
best for three years. Operating profit grew significantly in
comparison to the second half of 2003; and more than doubled
in comparison to the first half of 2004. Both our North
American and North European regions delivered local operating
margins for the second half in line with the targets set at the
start of the turnaround programme. Moreover, this year-on-year
improving trend has been achieved despite raw material costs
being over £1m higher in 2004, and with the majority of the
increase being in the second half of the year. The price-
competitive nature of the industry and the subdued market
conditions meant that passing on raw material cost increases
proved challenging. 

Looking ahead, we will continue with our strategy of focusing
on operational recovery, which is delivering tangible improvements
in performance. Amongst others, we are undertaking a number
of purchasing initiatives which will have a clear financial benefit.
We have also further strengthened the Divisional management
team. Accordingly, although there remains much to be done in 
a comparatively demanding business context, I am encouraged 
by the prospects for the Division in 2005. 

1

2

Thierry Souillart, a
Manufacturing Operator
with four years’ service,
pictured here at our
Bethune manufacturing
site.
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Turnover increased 
to £201.7m from
£191.7m. The
increase includes full-
year sales of Tessera
(the rebranded Bonar
Tiles business) and
sales following the
acquisition of Yihua
Bonar Yarns & Fabrics
in July 2004. The
impact of exchange
rates was negative 
in the current year,
reducing turnover 
by £3.1m.

Low & Bonar Annual report 2004

Financial review
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Operating profit before exceptional items was £12.1m (2003:
£11.1m). The Yarns & Fabrics business increased operating profits
to £5.3m from £3.5m, which more than offset a decrease in
operating profit of £1.0m in our Floors Division. Plastics progressed
and central costs decreased against the previous year. 

The exceptional costs of £0.4m relate to the legal costs in
defending the Group in the EU competition authority case
alleging price fixing in the industrial bags market. As previously
reported, we sold the business in 1997. We are not anticipating
incurring significant legal costs in 2005 as we await the 
decision of the European Commission, also expected in 2005. 
No provision for any fine has been made in the accounts for 
the year ended 30 November 2004.

Net interest expense reduced to £0.7m from £1.0m.

Taxation
The tax charge was £3.4m (2003: £3.2m) representing an
effective rate of 31% (2003: 34%).

Earnings and dividends
Basic earnings per share were 7.43p against 6.05p in the
previous year. Earnings per share before exceptional items
improved to 7.72p from 6.69p in 2003. Earnings per share
before amortisation of goodwill and exceptional costs were
8.13p (2003: 6.97p).

Preference dividends of £23,000 (2003: £23,000) were paid 
in the year. Ordinary dividends, both paid and proposed for 
the year, amount to £4.5m (2003: £4.2m).

Cash balance and cash flow
The Group started the year with a net cash position of £10.4m
and ended with £15.0m. This strong cash position was possible
despite an increase in capital expenditure, an increase in tax 
paid and the acquisition of our Chinese subsidiary.

Pensions
The Group has accounted for pensions under SSAP 24
“Accounting for Pension Costs” and has included disclosure
in the notes as required by the transitional rules of FRS 17
“Retirement Benefits”. The total profit and loss account charges
for the group pension schemes is £2.6m (2003: £2.5m).

The SSAP 24 accounting for the UK defined benefit scheme 
is based on the most recent formal valuation in March 2002. 
The profit and loss account charge of £1.3m has been below 
the cash contributions of approximately £2.7m (2003: £1.3m).
The contributions have been increased to a level which
recognises the deficit following the last actuarial valuation. 
When the next formal valuation is completed in 2005 it is
expected that this will give rise to an increased charge to the
profit and loss account in 2005. The valuation is due March
2005 and the results expected around the time of the interims. 

Treasury
We maintain relationships with the key external debt providers
centrally. Treasury policies are approved by the Board and cover
the nature of the expense to be hedged, the types of financial
instruments that may be employed and the criteria for investing
and borrowing cash. No transactions of a speculative nature 
are allowed.

Liquidity risk: The objective is to maintain sufficient funding for
the foreseeable future. At 30 November 2004, available undrawn
committed bank facilities totalled £15m. The Group maintains
uncommitted overdraft facilities to maintain short-term flexibility. 

Foreign currency risk: The Group has net assets outside of the
UK and has in the past partially limited the translational exposure
and resultant impact on shareholders’ funds by borrowing in a
respective currency. Following the acquisition in December 2004,
the Board reviewed this policy and subsequently approved an
increase in the hedge which has now been put in place.

Transactional exposures arise in a few of our Group companies
and where these exposures are regarded as highly probable then
we will hedge the exposure.

Interest rate risk: No instruments are entered into to mitigate
the impact of interest rates, although this is regularly reviewed.
Some euro borrowing is at fixed rates, maturing in 2006.

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS)
The Group has to apply IFRS in the year ending 30 November
2006. We have commenced a project to ensure we fully
understand the standards and their applicability to Low & Bonar.
The biggest impact will arise from the inclusion of the pension
deficit on the balance sheet and its impact on distributable
reserves. Other significant impacts on the group will arise 
from share options, financial instruments and accounting 
for acquisitions.

We intend to report information under IFRS for the first 
time after our preliminary announcement for the year 
ending 30 November 2005 and prior to issuing our interim
announcement for the year ending 30 November 2006.

Jon Kempster Group Finance Director
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Report of the directors

The directors present their report and the accounts of the Company and the Group for the year ended 30 November 2004.

Principal activities 
The report of the directors should be read in conjunction with the Chairman’s statement, the Chief Executive’s review, the Divisional
reviews and the financial review, which contain details of the principal activities of the Group during the year and an indication of 
likely future developments.

Results and dividends 
The Group’s consolidated net profit for the year, after taxation and minority interest was £7.4m (2003: £6.0m).

The directors recommend that a final dividend of 2.90p per share (2003: 2.70p), amounting to £2.9m (2003: £2.7m), be paid 
on 27 April 2005 to ordinary shareholders whose names appear in the register at close of business on 1 April 2005.

The final dividend together with the interim dividend of 1.60p per share (2003: 1.50p) already paid, will make a total dividend on 
the ordinary shares of 4.50p (2003: 4.20p) amounting to £4.5m (2003: £4.2m), which, with the dividends paid on the first, second 
and third cumulative preference stocks of £23,000 (2003: £23,000) leaves a profit for the year of £2.9m (2003: £1.8m).

Post-balance sheet event 
On 7 December 2004, the Company acquired the entire issued share capital of LCM Construction Products Ltd (trading as ADFIL) 
for a consideration of up to £12.8m in cash of which up to £2.8m will be deferred and contingent. ADFIL is a specialist polypropylene
fibre manufacturer whose principal activity is the production and supply of fibres for use as an additive to concrete in order to provide
strength and enhanced resistance to surface cracking. The previous owners of the business were private equity house Lloyds TSB
Development Capital and the existing management team who have remained with the business.

Directors 
The present directors of the Company, who all held office throughout the financial year under review, are shown on pages 16 and 17. 
Mr A J Cole retired as a non-executive director of the Company on 21 April 2004. 

Re-election of directors 
Mr J Kempster will retire by rotation in accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association at the annual general meeting of the
Company to be held on 20 April 2005 and, being eligible, will offer himself for re-appointment. 

Mr Kempster was appointed as the Group Finance Director in April 2001. He has a service contract with the Company that 
is terminable by the Company giving 12 months’ written notice or by Mr Kempster giving the Company three months’ notice 
in writing. Mr Kempster has entered into an arrangement with the Company under which the Company may reduce his notice to 
six months if he fails to achieve certain performance targets. Further details of this arrangement are given in the directors’ report 
on remuneration on page 28.

Directors’ interests in shares and debentures of the Company are shown on page 30.

Substantial interests 
At the date of this report, the Company had been notified under Section 198 of the Companies Act 1985 of the following notifiable
holdings of the Company’s ordinary shares:

Shares %

Schroder Investment Management Ltd 
and subsidiary and affiliated companies 22,474,517 22.52
AFL Fjarfestingarfelag 18,082,500 18.12
British Airways Pension Trustees 3,875,000 3.90
Legal & General Investment Management Ltd 3,699,432 3.72

Ordinary share capital 
Details of the Company’s authorised and issued share capital at 30 November 2004 and of options granted and shares issued pursuant
to the Company’s employee share option schemes and long-term incentive plans are shown in note 18 to the accounts.

Annual general meeting 
The annual general meeting will be held at the offices of ABN Amro, 250 Bishopsgate, London EC2M 4AA on 20 April 2005
commencing at 1 pm.

The notice of the annual general meeting is set out on pages 57 and 58.
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Resolutions at the annual general meeting 

Renewal of the directors’ authority to allot shares The directors consider it desirable that their authorities to allot relevant
securities and to allot relevant securities for cash without first offering them pro rata to existing shareholders should be renewed 
as set out below.

An ordinary resolution to authorise the directors to allot shares in the Company up to an aggregate nominal amount of £16,450,000
representing 32,900,000 shares, being approximately 33% of the issued ordinary share capital currently in issue, until the next annual
general meeting or if earlier, 15 months after the date of the passing of the resolution.

Renewal of the directors’ authority to allot shares for cash other than to existing shareholders Conditional upon the passing
of the above resolution, a special resolution will be proposed which will enable the directors to allot not more than £2,494,500 in
aggregate of the nominal value of the Company’s issued share capital for cash, without first offering the shares to existing
shareholders.

There are at present no plans to exercise the above authorities other than in respect of shares which may be issued pursuant to the
share option schemes and the Long-Term Incentive Plan.

Special resolution for the authority to buy back shares At the annual general meeting of the Company held on 21 April 2004,
the Company was given authority to purchase up to a maximum of 10% of its own shares. This authority will expire at the annual
general meeting to be held on 20 April 2005. Although no ordinary shares have been purchased by the Company during the period
from 21 April 2004 to the date of this report, the directors at the annual general meeting on 20 April 2005 will be seeking fresh
authority from the Company to purchase its own shares. The resolution stipulates the minimum and maximum prices at which the
ordinary shares can be bought reflecting Companies Act requirements. The authority will expire at the next annual general meeting of
the Company but the directors intend to seek to renew this authority annually. The directors have no immediate intention to exercise
an authority to purchase the Company’s own shares, but will keep the possibility under review. If the authority is given, purchases
would only be made where the directors believed that they were in the best interests of the Company, taking into account other
available investment opportunities and the overall financial position of the Group. Purchases would only be made where earnings 
per share would be increased.

Remuneration report The directors’ report on remuneration prepared in accordance with the Directors’ Remuneration Report
Regulations 2002 can be found on pages 26 to 31. An ordinary resolution will be proposed to shareholders to approve the directors’
report on remuneration. It should be noted that the result of this resolution is advisory only.

Going concern 
Having reviewed the medium-term forecasts and compared the cash flow with the available bank facilities, the directors are of 
the opinion that the Group has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. For this reason, 
the directors continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the accounts.

Employment of disabled persons 
It is the policy of the Group to give full and fair consideration to applications for employment by Group companies received from
disabled persons, having regard to their particular aptitudes and abilities; and wherever possible to continue the employment 
of, and to arrange appropriate training for, employees who have become disabled persons during the period of their employment 
by a Group company. Group companies provide the same opportunities for training, career development and promotion for disabled 
as for other employees.

Employee involvement 
The Group’s overall policy is to keep employees informed on matters of concern to them and to encourage employee involvement. 
This policy is implemented in a wide variety of ways, which are reported on by the Group’s businesses. These include the publication 
of an annual European Employee Communications report and regular meetings with employees’ representatives.

Payment of suppliers 
The Company’s policy and practice is to pay agreed invoices in accordance with the terms of payment agreed with suppliers at the 
time orders are placed. As the Company is a holding company it has no trade creditors.

Charitable and political contributions 
The Company has made a donation of £15,000 to the Low & Bonar Charitable Trust (2003: £12,500). The Trust is independent from
the Company. The directors adhered to their policy of making no contributions to any political party.

Auditor 
KPMG Audit Plc have expressed their willingness to continue in office as auditors and a resolution to reappoint them will be proposed
at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

By order of the Board
Amanda Whalley Company Secretary

17 February 2005
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Management of risk, health and safety and the environment

Management of the environmental impact of Group operations remains an important subject on the Group risk control agenda. 
In order to provide a more dedicated resource to environmental, health and safety issues, the Company established an Operational 
Risk Management Committee (the ‘Ops RMC’) during the year with the following objectives.

l To raise the level of management awareness, both at Board and operational level, and accountability for the environmental, 
health and safety risks experienced by the Group.

l To develop environmental, health and safety management as part of the culture of the Group.
l To provide a mechanism for environmental, health and safety management issues to be discussed and disseminated to all areas 

of the Group.
l To recommend adoption of best practice in the areas of environmental, health and safety.
l To develop and implement a Group-wide management system for environmental, health and safety issues.

The Ops RMC reports to the Risk Management Committee and comprises the Divisional Managing Director, Bonar Floors Division 
as Chairman, a senior operations manager from each Division, the Group Internal Auditor, the Group Risk Manager, and the Human
Resources Director of Bonar Floors to provide expertise on HR issues. 

Environmental
One of the main objectives of the Group’s environmental policy is to ensure that our manufacturing operations worldwide are
managed responsibly, in materially full compliance with all relevant laws and regulations, and that environmental damage or nuisance
does not occur as a result of our activities. The Group continually reviews and evaluates its processes and practices and, where
possible, takes action to reduce any potential impact of its operations on the environment. As a consequence of this ongoing
programme of evaluation, the following action has been taken.

l A full environmental self-auditing programme, as detailed in last year’s report, has now been completed Group wide and an 
action plan is being prepared based on the responses. However, there were no major environmental impacts identified from the
environmental self-auditing programme for which adequate control measures were not already in place. The annual environmental
self-auditing programme will assist the Group in its aim to continually improve its environmental procedures.

l Recycling programmes for both process and general waste are actively encouraged throughout the Group to maximise the efficient
use of raw material. A number of sites across all businesses have conducted waste-stream reviews in order to minimise amounts 
of waste to landfill as well as identifying recycling opportunities and waste minimisation actions. The Group remains a member 
of the Valpak packaging scheme for its UK subsidiaries, which includes the newly acquired ADFIL business, and fully meets the
requirement of the packaging waste obligations.

l The Floors Division continues to use recycled backing in part of its manufacturing process to reduce landfill requirements.
l During the year a review of substances classified as hazardous to health was undertaken at every site. This has resulted in the

proper disposal of unwanted inventory, improved storage and additional controls, as appropriate.  We have now embarked on 
a programme of assessments covering the continued use of hazardous substances with the aim of replacing these with safer
alternatives where appropriate.

The Group’s disaster contingency plans, which include the effective control of any potential environmental incidents, are reviewed 
and updated on a regular basis.

The Group retains, from the sale of its North American packaging operations in 2000, some responsibility for the remediation 
of known environmental contamination in the vicinity of one of the facilities in Burlington, Ontario. Further details are provided 
in note 27 to the accounts.

As stated in last year’s report, the Group has also agreed remedial action with local environmental authorities in respect of historical
gas oil pollution of the soil and groundwater at its site in Lokeren, Belgium. The contamination resulted from leakage from large gas
oil tanks that were removed from the site prior to its acquisition by the Group in 1996. The cleaning programme agreed with the
authorites will be completed during 2006.

Investigation of the environmental controls of businesses continues to be a part of the due diligence process of all potential
acquisitions.

The Group considers environmental aspects when developing new products. The environmental properties 
of products we manufacture will be considered at each stage of the introduction and manufacture of new products. 

Health and safety
The health and safety of our employees and others who may be affected by Group operations forms an integral part of line-
management responsibility. In each location nominated personnel are identified to ensure that health and safety issues are given
proper attention. The communication of health and safety matters with our employees remains key to ensuring that standards
continue to improve within the Group. Management recognises the need to embed a health and safety culture across the Group 
and health and safety will be a topic on the agenda at this year’s Senior Management Conference. 
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The Group seeks to operate responsibly in all areas and has formulated best practice standards covering a wide spectrum of risk
control issues. The Group standards include requirements for all sites to carry out suitable risk assessments of all their activities, provide
adequate training and instruction and, where possible, eliminate or minimise risk of injury. This process is ongoing and the Group will
continue, via the Ops RMC, to introduce best practice standards in all areas of health and safety. Actions taken by the Ops RMC during
the year include the following.

l The development and introduction of best practice standards across a range of health and safety issues such as the control 
of contractors, permit to work, use of internal transport and forklift trucks.

l A Group review of fire evacuation systems and procedures across all locations with compliance to best practices. Following this
review, approved electrical alarm systems will be installed in our Plastics site in Holland. New fire detection and approved evacuation
fire alarm systems will also be installed within our three French Plastics sites during the first quarter of 2005.

The review of accidents forms an integral part of health and safety management, with details of accidents being communicated
between locations as appropriate in order that preventative action can be taken. Following a blender cleaning accident at one of 
our Plastics locations the operating procedures were reviewed and a safer cleaning process has been introduced at all locations. 

Safety culture programmes are underway, and in Plastics France consultation with the employee works councils has resulted in the
publication of employee safety information booklets. 

Risk management and health and safety issues are also reviewed by a rolling programme of visits by the Group Risk Manager and
insurance risk surveyors with their recommendations forming part of the internal audit reviews. The insurers and broker surveyors 
have visited all major sites with no additional action being recommended by the surveyors above that which has already been agreed. 

Further information on how the Group manages risk is provided in the Internal control section on pages 24 and 25.
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Corporate governance

This report explains how the Company complied with the provisions of the revised Combined Code on corporate governance issued 
by the Financial Reporting Council in July 2003. The Company is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate governance
and to applying the Principles of Good Governance set out in the revised Combined Code. The directors can confirm compliance
throughout the year with the revised Combined Code except in respect of two provisions. Firstly that no single member of the Audit
Committee fully meets the requirements in respect of “recent and relevant financial experience”. Details of actions being taken by the
Board to address this area of non-compliance are provided below. Secondly, that the constitution of the Nomination Committee does
not comply with the revised Combined Code as it does not comprise a majority of independent non-executive directors. Whilst the
Nomination Committee, which comprises the Chairman, the Senior Independent Non-executive Director and the Group Chief Executive,
leads the process of Board appointments, the Chairman will consult with all of the directors on a regular basis throughout the process.
In the opinion of the Board, the constitution of the Committee is therefore appropriate given the size of the Board and the process
undertaken for Board appointments. Further detail of the appointment process is provided in the section on the Nomination
Committee below.

The Board
The Group is controlled through its Board of directors. The Board’s main objectives are to create value for shareholders, to approve 
the Group’s strategic objectives and to ensure that the necessary financial and other resources are made available to enable them to
meet those objectives. There is a formal schedule of matters specifically reserved to the Board for decision which include: formulation
of Group strategy; the approval of the annual budget; the approval of reported financial statements and dividends; and the approval
of acquisitions, divestments and significant items of capital expenditure. 

The roles of the Chairman and Group Chief Executive The roles of the Chairman and that of the Group Chief Executive are
separate and clearly defined. The Chairman is responsible for leading the Board, facilitating the effective contribution of all members
and ensuring that it operates effectively in the interests of shareholders. The Group Chief Executive is responsible for leadership of the
business and implementation of strategy. 

Directors and directors’ independence The Board currently comprises the Chairman, two independent non-executive directors and
two executive directors. The names of the directors together with their biographical details are set out on pages 16 and 17. All of the
directors served throughout the period under review. A non-executive director, Duncan Clegg, chairs the Board. The Group Chief
Executive is Paul Forman and the Senior Independent Non-executive Director is Steve Hannam. Steve Hannam was appointed as the
Senior Independent Non-executive Director following the retirement of Alan Cole as a non-executive director of the Company on 
21 April 2004. The independent non-executive directors constructively challenge and help develop proposals on strategy, and bring
strong independent judgement, knowledge and experience to the Board’s deliberations. The Board believes that an effective balance 
of power and authority is maintained through the number and calibre of non-executive directors. During 2004, the Nomination
Committee initiated the search for an additional non-executive director to strengthen the Board further. This has involved a process 
of identifying the skills and experience that the ideal candidate for this position requires. The Board expects that it will shortly be in 
a position to announce the appointment of an additional non-executive director. All directors have access to the advice and services 
of the Company Secretary and there is an agreed procedure for directors to take independent professional advice at the Company’s
expense. 

Details of Duncan Clegg’s professional commitments are included in the Chairman’s biography. The Board is satisfied that these are 
not such as to interfere with the performance of the Chairman’s duties of the Group which are based around a commitment of at 
least one day and no more than two days per week.

The Chairman and the non-executive directors are not employees of the Group.

The Board considers that Steve Hannam and Chris Davies, the non-executive directors of the Company, are independent in character
and judgement. No non-executive director:

l has been an employee of the Group within the last five years;
l has, or had within the last three years, a material business relationship with the Group;
l receives remuneration other than a director’s fee;
l has close family ties with any of the Group’s advisers, directors or senior employees;
l holds cross-directorships or has significant links with other directors through involvement in other companies or bodies;
l represents a significant shareholder; or
l has served on the Board for more than nine years.

All directors are required to offer themselves for re-election at least once every three years.

Professional development and performance evaluation The Board has adopted a policy of providing appropriate training for 
all new directors who have not previously received such training. A personal induction programme is prepared for each new director
depending on the experience and needs of the individual. On appointment, they receive information about the Group, the role of 
the Board and the matters reserved for its decision, the terms of reference and membership of the principal Board and management
committees and the powers delegated to those committees, and the latest financial information about the Group. This is
supplemented by visits to key locations and meetings with the Divisional Managing Directors and other key senior executives. 

The Board has established a process, led by the Chairman, for the annual evaluation of the performance of the Board and its principal
committees. A list of questions is drawn up by the Chairman with the assistance of the Company Secretary. These questions provide 
a framework for the evaluation process. During the year the Chairman held meetings with the non-executive directors without the
executive directors being present. The Senior Independent Non-executive Director conducts the annual performance evaluation of the
Chairman, taking into account the views of all directors.
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Information and meetings The Board meets regularly to review the performance of the Company and to formulate strategy and 
is supplied in advance of each meeting with an agenda and papers covering the financial and operating performance of the Group’s
businesses and other matters to be considered at the meeting. These papers are supplemented by information specifically requested 
by the directors from time to time. The Divisional Managing Directors attend the Board meetings on a regular basis to present to the
Board on the performance of their Division. The Board also receive presentations on a regular basis from the Group Head of Strategy
and the Director of Management Development. 

The full Board met on eight occasions during 2004, one of which was held at a Plastics facility, and those meetings were attended 
by all the directors, save that Chris Davies was unable to attend on two occasions. 

Board committees
The Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee are the two principal committees of the Board. The Board also operates 
a Nomination Committee. The terms of reference of the Audit, Remuneration and Nomination Committees are available on the
Company’s website on the following link www.lowandbonar.com/wb/csr/terms or on request from the Company Secretary.

Audit Committee The Audit Committee currently comprises Steve Hannam, Chairman of the Committee and Chris Davies. 
Alan Cole resigned as a member of the Committee upon his retirement from the Board on 21 April 2004.

The Committee is made up entirely of independent non-executive directors. While the Committee collectively has the skills and
experience required to fully discharge its duties, and has access to independent advice at the Group’s expense, the Committee
determined, during a self-assessment review, that no single member fully meets the requirements of the revised Combined Code 
in respect of “recent and relevant financial experience”. This has been identified, by the Nomination Committee, as one of the
prerequisites of the ideal candidate in the search initiated during the year for an additional non-executive director. 

The Audit Committee, which is established with formal, written terms of reference, meets at least three times a year. The Audit
Committee is responsible for assisting the Board to discharge its duties with regard to the Group’s financial affairs, and for reviewing
with the external auditors the adequacy of the Group’s accounting and financial and operating controls. The Committee is responsible
for monitoring and controlling the effectiveness of the external audit process and making recommendations to the Board in relation 
to the appointment and re-appointment of the external auditors. 

The Audit Committee is responsible for ensuring that an appropriate relationship between the Group and the external auditors is
maintained, including reviewing non-audit services and fees. It has developed and implemented a policy on the supply of non-audit
services by the external auditor to ensure their continued objectivity and independence. The Committee is satisfied that the provision
by KPMG LLP of non-audit services currently provided does not impair their independence or objectivity. The Audit Committee has
approved the range of services that may be provided by KPMG LLP, these include taxation compliance services, transaction due
diligence and accountancy assistance on projects. Subject to approved authorisation limits, the services require prior authorisation from
either the Group Finance Director, the Chairman of the Audit Committee or the full Audit Committee. The Committee is satisfied that
the majority of the tax services supplied by KPMG LLP during the year were compliance-related or related principally to foreign advisory
work that required a detailed understanding of the Group and which did not impair their independence. The Audit Committee also
thought it appropriate and in the Company’s best interest to appoint KPMG LLP to undertake the due diligence for the Group’s
investment in Yihua Bonar Yarns & Fabrics Co., Ltd. and, following the investment authorise the appointment of KPMG as auditors 
to this company.

The Audit Committee met on three occasions during 2004 and those meetings were attended by all of the Committee members, 
save that Chris Davies was unable to attend on one occasion. The meetings coincide with key dates in the financial reporting and 
audit cycle. The external auditors, KPMG Audit Plc, and the Group Internal Auditor, who reports directly to the Audit Committee,
regularly attend these meetings. The Chairman, Group Chief Executive and Group Finance Director also generally join at least part 
of Audit Committee meetings by invitation. The Audit Committee also receives regular reports from the Group Risk Manager who 
may also attend meetings by invitation. The Committee Chairman may call a meeting at the request of any member, the Company’s
external auditors or the Group Internal Auditor. The Audit Committee meets privately with the external auditors and the Group
Internal Auditor at least once a year.

In 2004 the Audit Committee discharged its responsibilities by:

l reviewing the Group’s draft financial statements and interim results statement prior to Board approval and reviewing the external
auditors’ detailed reports thereon;

l reviewing the appropriateness of the Group’s accounting policies;
l reviewing and approving the audit fee and reviewing non-audit fees payable to the Group’s external auditors;
l reviewing the external auditors’ plan for the audit of the Group’s accounts, which included key areas of extended scope work, 

key risks on the accounts, confirmations of auditor independence and the proposed audit fee; 
l reviewing an annual report on the Group’s system of internal control and its effectiveness and reporting to the Board on the 

results of the review;
l receiving regular reports from the Internal Group Auditor following operational audits; and
l commencing a review of the proposed International Accounting Standards.

During the year the Audit Committee approved and introduced a whistle-blowing policy, to ensure appropriate arrangements are 
in place for employees to be able to raise matters of possible impropriety in confidence, with suitable subsequent follow-up action.

The Audit Committee is entitled to obtain, at the expense of the Company, such external advice as it sees fit on any matters falling
within its terms of reference. 
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Corporate governance continued

The Risk Management Committee reports to the Audit Committee. The Risk Management Committee seeks to focus and co-ordinate
risk management activities throughout the Group to facilitate the identification, evaluation and management of all key business risks.
Further details of the Risk Management Committee are provided in the Internal Control section below. 

Remuneration Committee The Remuneration Committee currently comprises the following non-executive directors of the 
Company, all of whom are considered by the Board to be independent: Chris Davies, (Chairman of the Remuneration Committee); 
and Steve Hannam.

Chris Davies was appointed as Chairman of the Committee following the resignation of Alan Cole as Chairman of the Committee 
on 21 April 2004, upon his retirement from the Board.

The Remuneration Committee met on six occasions during 2004 and those meetings were attended by all of the Committee members,
save that Chris Davies, prior to his appointment as Remuneration Committee Chairman, was unable to attend on one occasion.

The Committee is responsible for recommending to the Board the Company’s broad policy for executive remuneration, including 
both short-term and long-term incentive arrangements, and for reviewing, at least annually, the entire remuneration packages of 
the executive directors and certain other senior executives of the Company. The Committee is also responsible for recommending 
the Chairman’s remuneration to the Board in compliance with the revised Combined Code. The Committee is entitled to obtain, 
at the expense of the Company, such external advice as it sees fit on any matters falling within its terms of reference. The Directors’
report on remuneration for 2004 is on pages 26 to 31. 

Nomination Committee The Nomination Committee is comprised of the Chairman, the Group Chief Executive and Steve Hannam,
the Senior Independent Non-executive Director. 

The constitution of the Nomination Committee does not comply with the revised Combined Code as it does not comprise a majority 
of independent non-executive directors. Whilst the Nomination Committee leads the process of Board appointments, the Chairman will
consult with all of the directors on a regular basis throughout the process. All appointments are also subject to the review and approval
of the full Board and all directors will be invited to meet with a candidate before their appointment is recommended to the Board. 
In the opinion of the Board, the constitution of the Committee is therefore appropriate given the size of the Board and the process
undertaken for Board appointments.

The Committee, which is established with formal written terms of reference, is responsible for recommending to the Board candidates
for appointment as both executive and non-executive directors and for recommending to the Board all aspects of remuneration for
non-executive directors. Appointments are fully discussed before a proposal is made to the Board. The selection criteria are agreed 
by the Committee Chairman in conjunction with his colleagues. Use is made of independent recruitment consultants and the final
appointment rests with the full Board.

During the year the Nomination Committee initiated the search for an additional non-executive director using external recruitment
consultants to strengthen the Board further. This has involved a process of identifying the skills and experience that the ideal candidate
for this position requires. As stated above, the Board expects that it will shortly be in a position to announce the appointment of an
additional non-executive director.

Relations with shareholders 
The Company maintains good communications with its shareholders through its interim and annual reports and through information
posted on its website at www.lowandbonar.com. The Company holds regular meetings throughout the year with major shareholders,
analysts and the financial press, in particular following the announcements of its interim and full-year results. Visits for analysts and
shareholders are also arranged from time to time to operating units. The Company’s annual general meeting is used as an opportunity
to communicate with private investors. Shareholders attending the annual general meeting are invited to ask questions and to meet
with the directors informally after the meeting. The Company also arranges a presentation on one of its businesses to shareholders 
at the annual general meeting. Duncan Clegg, as Chairman of the Board and Nomination Committee, Steve Hannam as Senior
Independent Non-executive Director and Chairman of the Audit Committee and Chris Davies as Chairman of the Remuneration
Committee will answer questions, as appropriate, at the annual general meeting. Shareholders are given the opportunity of voting
separately on each proposal. The numbers of proxy votes cast in respect of each resolution are announced after the resolution has
been voted on by a show of hands. Notice of the annual general meeting is sent to shareholders at least twenty working days prior 
to the date of the meeting.

Internal control 
The directors acknowledge their responsibility for the systems of internal control within the Group. The purpose of these systems is to
provide reasonable assurance as to the reliability of financial information and to maintain proper control over the income, expenditure,
assets and liabilities of the Group. The Board has also reviewed in detail the areas of major risk that the Group faces in its operations. 
It has noted and is satisfied with the current control mechanisms and reporting lines that have been in place throughout the year.
However, no system of control can provide absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss. In carrying out their review, 
the directors have regard to which controls in their judgement are appropriate to the Group’s businesses, to the materiality and the
likelihood of the risks inherent in these businesses, and to the relative costs and benefits of implementing specific controls.

The Group views the careful management of risk as a key management activity. Much of the Group’s work in the area of risk
management is facilitated by the Risk Management Committee, which is chaired by the Group Chief Executive and comprises 
the Group Finance Director together with the Divisional Managing Directors, the Group Risk Manager and the Group Internal Auditor.
The Risk Management Committee meets formally at least twice a year to review and analyse how business risks are being managed. 
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The Risk Management Committee operates under formal terms of reference established by the Board of the Company and accords
with Turnbull guidance. The Risk Management Committee initiates, directs, delegates and oversees all risk management activities
within the Group and provides the forum to investigate the effectiveness of current control strategies and develop specific action 
plans for remedial work where it considers this to be necessary. The Risk Management Committee is committed to continue to develop
and embed risk management process within the Group and focuses on the risk management process with the following objectives:

l To raise the level of management awareness and accountability for the business risks experienced by the Group.
l To develop risk management as part of the culture of the Group.
l To provide a mechanism for risk management issues to be discussed and disseminated to all areas of the Group.
l To approve new Group-wide tools and techniques to assist in the management of risk.

The Board receives reports on the work of the Risk Management Committee and reports from management on internal controls 
on a regular basis. The Group Risk Manager reports to the Risk Management Committee and works closely with both Divisional
Management and the Head Office team. The Group Internal Auditor has a direct reporting line to the Audit Committee and attends
Audit Committee meetings by invitation. 

During the year the Group established an Operational Risk Management Committee to focus and co-ordinate environment, 
health, and safety management activities throughout the Group.

In addition to the risk review process and the internal audit function, the Group operates within an established internal financial
control framework, which can be described under three headings:

l Financial reporting – there is a comprehensive budgeting system with an annual budget approved by the directors. Monthly actual
results are reported against budget and revised forecasts for the year are prepared regularly.

l Operating unit controls – financial controls and procedures including information system controls are detailed in the Group Finance
and Accounting Manual. All operating units are required to confirm annually their compliance with policies and procedures set 
out in the manual (including those relating to health, safety and the environment), local laws and regulations and report any 
control weaknesses identified in the past year. Yihua Bonar Yarns & Fabrics Co., Ltd. did not sign a statement of compliance as 
at 30 November 2004. However, a programme is fully underway to ensure that this company has introduced the financial controls 
and procedures required by the Group and will be in a position to complete the annual statement of compliance at 30 November
2005. Independent confirmation of compliance is obtained annually for selected operating units. 

l Investment appraisal – the Group has clearly defined guidelines for capital expenditure which are also set out in the Group Finance
and Accounting Manual. These include detailed appraisal and review procedures, levels of authority and post-completion audits.
Where businesses are being acquired, detailed due diligence is undertaken in advance of acquisition.

The Company is committed to ensuring that all employees comply with all anti-trust legislation. To ensure that relevant employees are
aware of the issues and receive the appropriate level of training and information, the Group together with its legal advisers, Freshfields
Bruckhaus Deringer, has personalised an on-line anti-trust compliance training programme which all relevant personnel within the
Group will be required to complete on a regular basis.

The continued development and implementation of the risk management and internal control system across the Group has allowed
the directors to comply with the revised Combined Code provisions on internal control in the course of the financial year ended 
30 November 2004.

Going concern
Having reviewed the medium-term forecasts and compared the cash flow with the available bank facilities, the directors are of 
the opinion that the Group has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. For this reason, 
the directors continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the accounts.
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This report to shareholders has been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Directors’ Remuneration Report Regulations
2002 (“the Remuneration Report Regulations”) and also meets the relevant requirements of the Listing Rules of the UK Listing
Authority. It covers the remuneration policy for directors and includes specific disclosures relating to directors’ emoluments, their shares
and other interests. This remuneration report is being put to shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting for an advisory
vote. The vote will be in respect of the remuneration policy and overall remuneration packages and will not be specific to individual
levels of remuneration. 

1 The Remuneration Committee
During the year, the Remuneration Committee (“the Committee”), which has formal terms of reference approved by the Board,
recommended to the Board the broad policy for the remuneration of the Chairman, the executive directors and other senior
executives. A copy of the terms of reference of the Committee which were revised on 11 February 2004 is available on the Company’s
website at www.lowandbonar.com. 

The Committee currently comprises the following non-executive directors of the Company, Chris Davies (who was appointed as
Chairman of the Committee on 21 April 2004 upon the retirement of Alan Cole) and Steve Hannam, both of whom are considered 
by the Board to be independent. The Chairman, Duncan Clegg is invited to attend meetings of the Committee other than when his
own remuneration is under consideration. The Group Chief Executive may be invited to attend meetings of the Committee. 

During the year, the Committee received material assistance in respect of the Chairman’s revised remuneration arrangements from
Independent Remuneration Solutions who were appointed by the Committee and from Freshfields Bruckhaus Deringer, the Company’s
main legal advisers. Alithos Limited provides information to the Committee on the performance conditions relating to awards made
under the Company’s long-term incentive plans. The Committee also received assistance during the year from the Group Chief
Executive and the Company Secretary.

2 Policy on executive director and senior executive pay and benefits
The Group’s remuneration policy is to ensure that the remuneration of executive directors and senior executives properly reflects their
duties and responsibilities and is sufficient to recruit, retain and motivate high-quality executive talent whilst aligning the interests of
senior executives as closely as possible with the interests of shareholders. The main components of the remuneration of the executive
directors are:

i) Basic salary When reviewing the base salaries of the executive directors, the Committee follows the principle that levels should 
be based around the median remuneration paid for similar job functions in comparable public companies with variations to reflect
individual performance and experience. For guidance, the Committee may consider surveys produced by professional consultants.

ii) Short-term bonus A bonus scheme was developed for executive directors and senior executives in 2003 as part of a performance-
related reward structure which was developed with the assistance of independent advisers Freshfields Bruckhaus Deringer. The bonus
scheme provides an annual bonus up to 100% of basic salary provided that a combination of Divisional and Company financial
performance targets are met. The bonus scheme is part of a “performance contract” under which these executives are rewarded for
exceptional annual performance but under which failure to meet targets on a sustained basis is likely to result in their notice period
being shortened so that, in the event of termination of their employment, the Company’s compensation costs would be substantially
reduced. In most cases, this involves a halving of their notice periods. This “performance contract” adopts the principles in the
Association of British Insurers’ December 2002 guidelines on executive remuneration.

For the year ended 30 November 2004, the executive directors earned a short-term bonus of 55% of annual basic salary based on 
the achievement of two financial performance targets approved by the Committee. The performance targets were based on growth 
in Group profit and operating cashflow. 91% of the bonus payable was payable on the achivement of the operating cashflow target.
In 2005, the executive directors will again be eligible to receive a short-term bonus of up to 100% of salary based on the achievement
of financial targets relating to net average borrowings and growth in Group profit. The bonus targets have been structured so that
60% relate to profit growth and 40% to borrowings. To earn elements relating to average net borrowings, a minimum profit target
must be achieved.

iii) Long-term incentive plans
The Low & Bonar 2003 Long-Term Incentive Plan (the “2003 LTIP”) The 2003 LTIP, approved by shareholders on 14 February
2003, forms the long-term element of the remuneration structure for the executive directors and senior executives. Both restricted
share awards and share options may be granted under the 2003 LTIP.

Each element of the 2003 LTIP is described below:

Restricted share awards made under the 2003 LTIP entitle participants to receive ordinary shares without payment after a three-year
period, provided a demanding performance target set by the Committee is achieved. All restricted share awards granted in 2003 and
2004 are “Recovery Phase Awards” (RPAs). These are high-value/high-performance awards which will only vest if the Company meets
demanding share price growth targets and other conditions described below. The Committee has granted RPAs only to executives who
have entered into the performance contract described above and RPAs will lapse if a participant’s notice period is shortened for breach
of the performance contract. With the exception of the Group Chief Executive who received an RPA on 28 March 2003 based on
200% of his annual basic salary, the maximum restricted share award that can be made to a participant under the 2003 LTIP in any
financial year shall not exceed 100% of annual basic salary. No further RPAs will be granted.
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The following performance conditions need to be met in order for RPAs to vest:

1) Full vesting of RPAs will require a 125% increase in the Company’s share price from a base price prior to the grant of the RPAs 
(the “Initial Price”) during the three-year period from the date of the award. Half of the shares will vest if the Company’s share 
price increases by 100% over the same period. The Initial Price for these awards will usually be the average price for the four-month
period ending immediately before the grant of the RPAs (subject to a “floor” share price of 48.30p). An exception was made in the
case of RPAs granted to two senior executives on 11 July 2003; the Initial Price for these awards was the same as the Initial Price 
for RPAs made on 28 March 2003 e.g. 53.64p in order to foster the team dynamic intended by the 2003 LTIP. Full vesting of RPAs
granted on 28 March 2003 and 11 July 2003 requires an increase in the share price to 120.69p. Half of the shares will vest if the
share price increases to 107.28p. Full details of RPAs granted to two senior executives during 2004 are provided in note 18 to the
accounts. The Initial Price for the two RPAs granted in 2004 is the average price for the four-month period ending immediately
before the date of grant of the RPAs. 

2) The Company’s earnings per share (before exceptional items) must increase by a 6% margin over the increase in the Retail Price
Index over the three-year period commencing with the financial year in which the grant of the RPA falls. 

3) The percentage increase in the Company’s share price over the three-year performance period (including the value of dividends
which are assumed to be reinvested in ordinary shares on the date of payment by the Company) must equal or exceed the
percentage increase in the FTSE Small Cap Total Return Index over the same period. 

During the year, the third performance condition as set out above was amended by the Committee to include the value of reinvested
dividends when determining the percentage increase in the Company’s share price. The purpose of this amendment was to achieve
direct comparability between the FTSE Small Cap Total Return Index (which takes account of reinvested dividends in its method of
calculation) and the Company’s own share price performance. The Committee was satisified that the original intention was to achieve
a like-for-like comparison, and that this would only be achieved if the amendment was made. This amendment will apply to awards
already made under the 2003 LTIP. The other performance conditions relating to the 2003 LTIP remain unchanged. 

There will be no retest opportunities for any of the performance conditions.

To the extent that ordinary shares vest, they will be released in equal tranches on the vesting date and the two anniversaries following
vesting. If a participant leaves employment for any reason after the vesting date but before the final tranche of vested ordinary shares
under the RPA has been released to the participant, they will not be entitled to any further tranches of vested ordinary shares unless
the Committee permits this at its absolute discretion. However if a participant leaves employment due to his death, ill health,
retirement or redundancy they, or in the case of their death their estate, will be entitled to all such further tranches of vested ordinary
shares under the RPA on the date or dates on which they would otherwise have been released to the participant.

In 2005 and subsequent years, the Committee may grant restricted share awards based on different performance targets which it
considers to be appropriately demanding. It is the intention of the Committee that these performance targets will be fully described 
in the directors’ report on remuneration, which will be voted on by shareholders, in the year prior to these awards being made. 
The Committee has no intention to make any restricted share awards in 2005. 

Options granted under the 2003 LTIP will entitle participants to acquire ordinary shares at no less than the market value of an 
ordinary share at the time of grant, provided that an appropriate performance target set by the Committee is achieved. Provided the
performance target is achieved, options will normally be exercisable between the third and tenth anniversaries of grant. Participants
will not normally be granted share options in the same year as they receive restricted share awards. 

Options were granted to 21 members of the Group’s senior management on 10 August 2004 at an option price of 112.5p per share,
being the market value of an ordinary share on 9 August 2004. The options will not be exercisable unless the Company’s averaged
annual compound growth in earnings per share (before exceptional items) is at least 10% over the three-year period commencing 
with the financial year ending 30 November 2004. There will be no opportunity to retest the performance target. If the option does
not satisfy the performance target, it will lapse unexercisable. The Plan also permits the grant of phantom options to participants;
phantom options were granted during the financial year to 30 November 2004, but these grants were not made to directors of the
Company. Full details of this grant of options are given in note 18 to the accounts.

No options were granted to the executive directors or any participants who have been awarded an RPA. 

The Low & Bonar 1999 Senior Executive Long-Term Incentive Plan (“the 1999 Plan”) The 1999 Plan was approved by
shareholders in 1999. The maximum award that could be made under the 1999 Plan in any one year was based on 100% of a
participant’s basic annual salary. If shares vest they are released to participants without payment. There are no outstanding awards
under the 1999 Plan. The performance target for the award made on 28 March 2001 which lapsed on 28 March 2004 is detailed 
in Table 5 below. No shares have been relased to participants under the 1999 Plan as no awards made under the 1999 Plan have 
met the performance conditions and all awards have lapsed. Following the adoption by shareholders of the 2003 LTIP, no further
awards will be made under the 1999 Plan.

iv) Other share-based incentives No share options have been granted under the Company’s 1994 (No. 1) Management Share
Option Scheme and 1994 (No. 2) Management Share Option Scheme since February 1999 and no further share options will be
granted. No executive director had any executive share options outstanding at 30 November 2004. 

Executive directors remain eligible to participate in the Low & Bonar 1997 Sharesave Scheme, which is open to all eligible UK employees.
During the year options were granted under three or five year SAYE contracts at a 20% discount to the share price at the offer date.
Prior to 2004 options were also granted on seven year SAYE contracts. The maximum overall employee contribution is £250 per month.
Details of each director’s interest in this scheme are shown in Table 6 below. 
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3 Policy on directors’ service contracts
Paul Forman’s employment may be terminated by the Company giving him not less than 12 months’ notice in writing or by Paul
Forman giving the Company not less than six months’ notice in writing. In the event of termination by the Company, the Company 
has the discretion to make a payment in lieu of notice and the Committee may award him a bonus for the year of termination. 
If Paul Forman’s employment is terminated within 12 months of a change of control of the Company, he will be entitled to a bonus 
in addition to the amount of any payment in lieu of notice. The bonus payable will be the average of the bonuses paid or payable 
to him in respect of the complete bonus years prior to the date on which his employment is terminated (subject to a maximum of
three years preceding that date).

Jon Kempster’s employment may be terminated by the Company giving him not less than 12 months’ notice in writing or by 
Jon Kempster giving the Company not less than three months’ notice in writing. In the event of termination by the Company, 
the Company has the discretion to make a payment in lieu of notice.

Paul Forman and Jon Kempster have both entered into a letter of variation to their service contract under which they are eligible 
to participate in a bonus arrangement which provides for an annual bonus of up to 100% of salary provided that a combination 
of specific annual performance targets are met, as detailed in section 2(ii) above. Certain performance targets will be capable of
receiving a “Strike”. Failure to achieve one or more of these performance targets in any financial year will constitute a “Strike”. 
In the event of two Strikes in any period of three years the Company shall be entitled to terminate the employment of Paul Forman on
12 weeks’ notice or Jon Kempster on six months’ notice (rather than the 12 months’ notice to which Paul Forman and Jon Kempster
would be entitled on dismissal by the Company other than dismissal for gross misconduct). Neither Paul Forman nor Jon Kempster
received a Strike during the financial years ended 30 November 2004 and 30 November 2003.

4 Policy on non-executive directors’ fees and appointment
The remuneration of the non-executive directors is determined by the Board, based on recommendations from the Nomination
Committee, with the non-executive directors concerned not participating in the decision. The Committee determines the remuneration
of the Chairman. Remuneration paid to the Chairman and to the non-executive directors during the year is shown in Table 2 below. 

The non-executive directors have letters of appointment renewable for periods of three years. Steve Hannam and Chris Davies have
letters of appointment for three years from 1 September 2002 and 1 November 2002 respectively. The appointment of the non-
executive directors may be terminated by either the director or the Company giving six months’ notice in writing. The non-executive
directors do not participate in the Company’s annual bonus scheme, in any of the Company’s share incentive schemes or in the
Company’s pension scheme.

5 Policy on the Chairman’s remuneration
In March 2004, the Committee commissioned adviser Independent Remuneration Solutions to undertake a review of the remuneration
paid to the Chairman, Duncan Clegg. As a result of this review the Committee decided that in order to align the interests of Duncan
Clegg more closely with those of shareholders, he should receive part of his fees in the form of Low & Bonar ordinary shares. Duncan
Clegg has agreed to retain the shares received under this arrangement for the period of his Chairmanship.

Duncan Clegg has entered into a new service contract with the Company dated 28 October 2004 (“the New Service Agreement”)
under which his remuneration comprises cash and share elements with retrospective effect from 1 April 2004. The cash element is 
a salary at the rate of £55,000 per annum and a further fee of £6,350 per annum as Chairman of the Trustee Board of the Low &
Bonar Group Retirement Benefit Scheme; the Company’s pension scheme. The share element is a number of shares derived by dividing
a notional fee of £30,000 per annum by a reference share price which is reset periodically. For the period April 2004 to November
2005, the share element is at the rate of 28,571 Low & Bonar ordinary shares per annum. This is based on a 105p reference share
price (the market value of a share shortly before these arrangements were approved by the Company’s Remuneration Committee 
on 20 April 2004). The share element will be delivered to Duncan Clegg on a six-monthly basis (net of tax deductions). The reference
share price will be reset every two years, with the first reset occurring in February 2006 governing the period December 2005 to
November 2007. The share element will be satisfied from shares held or acquired by Hill Samuel Offshore Trust Company Limited, 
the Trustee of the Low & Bonar 1995 Employees’ Share Ownership Plan Trust. 

In accordance with this arrangement, 2,809 shares were transferred by the Trustee to Duncan Clegg on 15 December 2004
representing the after-tax share element due in respect of the months of April and May 2004. 

Duncan Clegg will be entitled to a further 14,285 shares, (being 8,428 shares after tax), following the Company’s announcement 
of the 2004 preliminary results in respect of the period from June 2004 to November 2004.

Duncan Clegg’s appointment may be terminated by either he or the Company giving six months’ notice in writing. He does 
not participate in the Company’s annual bonus scheme, in any of the Company’s share incentive schemes or in the Company’s 
pension scheme.



6 Performance graph
The following graph charts the total cumulative shareholder return of the Company since 30 November 1999 against the return on 
the FTSE Small Cap Total Return Index (the “Index”). In the opinion of the Committee, the Index is the appropriate benchmark for 
the Company as the Company is a member of the Index and is also one of the performance measurements for the award of shares
made under the Low & Bonar 2003 Long-Term Incentive Plan.

Total return indices – Low & Bonar and FTSE Small Cap

The auditors are required to report on the information contained in the following part of this report.

Table 1  Directors’ emoluments for the year ended 30 November 2004
£

Company
Salaries 385,840
Bonus 212,405
Benefits in kind 32,118
Fees to non-executive directors 143,826
Gains made on exercise of share options and Long-Term Incentive Plan awards –

Aggregate emoluments 774,189

Table 2  Analysis of individual directors’ emoluments

Salaries Annual Benefits Total Total
and fees bonuses in kind

(1)
2004 2003

£ £ £ £ £

Executive directors
P A Forman(1) 238,500 131,294 17,159 386,953 392,169
J Kempster(1) 147,340 81,111 14,959 243,410 245,991
Non-executive directors
R D Clegg(2)(6) 77,087 – – 77,087 83,710
N R Clark(3) – – – – 10,933
A J Cole(3)(4) 11,119 – – 11,119 26,405
C E Davies(4) 27,120 – – 27,120 23,230
S J Hannam(5) 28,500 – – 28,500 25,082

529,666 212,405 32,118 774,189 807,520

Notes:
1) Benefits in kind are: car allowance and health insurance for the director and his spouse/children under 21.
2) Included in the fee paid to Mr Clegg is a fee of £6,350 for his chairmanship of the Low & Bonar Group Retirement Benefit Scheme (“the Scheme”). This fee is 

re-charged by the Company to the Scheme.
3) Dr Clark and Mr Cole resigned as directors on 30 April 2003 and 21 April 2004 respectively.
4) Mr Davies received a fee of £2,120 for his chairmanship of the Remuneration Committee from 21 April 2004, following the retirement of Mr Cole as Remuneration

Committee Chairman. During the year, Mr Cole received a fee of £1,365 for his chairmanship of the Remuneration Committee to his retirement on 21 April 2004.
5) Mr Hannam received a fee of £3,500 for his chairmanship of the Audit Committee.
6) In accordance with his New Service Agreement, Mr Clegg will receive a further 14,285 shares, or 8,428 shares representing the after-tax share element, following the

Company’s announcement of the 2004 preliminary results in respect of the period from 1 June 2004 to 30 November 2004.
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Pension entitlements
Paul Forman and Jon Kempster are not members of the Company’s pension scheme. Paul Forman and Jon Kempster are entitled 
to a sum equal to 30% and 25% of their basic salary respectively to enable them to make retirement benefit arrangements. Payments
made under this arrangement during the year to Mr Forman and Mr Kempster were £52,110 and £36,835 respectively. An employer’s
contribution of £19,440 was also paid by the Company into a personal pension plan for Mr Forman.

Table 3  Directors’ interests in shares
The beneficial interests of the directors in the ordinary 50p shares of the Company as at 30 November 2004 were:

30 November 1 December
2004 2003

R D Clegg 16,550 16,550
P A Forman 10,000 10,000
C E Davies 5,000 5,000
S J Hannam 40,878 40,878
J Kempster 13,590 13,590

Notes:
On 15 December 2004, Hill Samuel Offshore Trust Company Limited, the Trustee of the Low & Bonar 1995 Employees’ Share Ownership Plan Trust (“the Trustee”) transferred
2,809 ordinary shares to Mr Clegg representing the after-tax share element of the fee due to Mr Clegg in respect of the months of April and May 2004. 
On 10 December 2004, the Trustee acquired 26,619 shares at a price of 122p per share for the purpose of the Company’s arrangement with Mr Clegg to pay part of his fees
in the form of shares. Following the transfer of 2,809 shares to Mr Clegg, as detailed above, the Trustee holds 23,810 shares. Mr Clegg and the executive directors are for
Companies Act purposes deemed to be interested in all of these shares. The value of the pre-tax shares transferred to Mr Clegg are included in the fees paid to Mr Clegg
detailed in Table 2 above.
No other changes to directors’ interests during the period 1 December 2004 to 17 February 2005 have been notified to the Company. 
No director held any beneficial interest in or options over shares in or debentures of any other Group company at 30 November 2004 or at 17 February 2005.

Table 4  The Low & Bonar 2003 Long-Term Incentive Plan (the “2003 LTIP”)
Awards held by directors at 30 November 2004 under the 2003 LTIP were as follows:

Number of shares awarded
At At Award

1 December 30 November price Vesting 
Director 2003 2004 p date(1)

J Kempster 259,135 259,135 53.64 28/03/06
P A Forman 838,926 838,926 53.64 28/03/06

1) To the extent that ordinary shares vest, they will be released in equal tranches on the vesting date and the two anniversaries following vesting e.g. one-third will vest 
on 28 March 2006, one-third on 28 March 2007 and the final tranche on 28 March 2008.

During the year an amendment was made to one of the performance conditions applicable to the awards set out above. Full details 
of the performance conditions, including the amendment, are set out in 2(iii) above.

Table 5  The Low & Bonar 1999 Senior Executive Long-Term Incentive Plan (the “Plan”)
Awards held by directors at 30 November 2004 under the Plan were as follows:

Number of shares awarded
At Lapsed At Award

1 December during 30 November price
Director 2003 the year 2004 p

J Kempster 135,416 135,416 Nil 96.00

The performance target for the above award was based on Low & Bonar’s total shareholder return over the period 1 December 2000
to 30 November 2003 measured against the FTSE Small Cap Total Return Index (“the Index”). No ordinary shares would be released
unless the Company performed better than the median of the Index, at which point 25% of the award would be released at no cost,
rising on a straight line basis to 100% of the award for a performance of 13% or more better than that of the Index. 

The above award lapsed in total on 28 March 2004 as the performance target had not been satisfied.
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Table 6  Directors’ share options
Share options held by directors at 30 November 2004 under the Low & Bonar 1997 Sharesave Scheme were as follows: 

Number of options
At Granted Exercised At Exercise Dates 

1 December during during 30 November price options are 
Director 2003 year year 2004 p exercisable

J Kempster 18,627 – – 18,627 51 1/10/05 to 31/03/06

No options have been granted or exercised in the period from 1 December 2004 to 17 February 2005

The market price of the shares at 30 November 2004 was 119p and the range during the year to 30 November 2004 was 75.5p 
to 121.5p.

Christopher E Davies Chairman, Remuneration Committee
on behalf of the Board of directors

17 February 2005
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Directors’ responsibilities for preparation of the accounts

Company law requires the directors to prepare accounts for each financial year which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs 
of the Company and Group and of the profit or loss for that period. In preparing those accounts, the directors are required to:

l select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

l make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

l state whether applicable accounting standards have been followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and explained 
in the financial statements; and

l prepare the accounts on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Group will continue in business.

The directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial
position of the Company and to enable them to ensure that the accounts comply with the Companies Act 1985. They have general
responsibility for taking such steps as are reasonably open to them to safeguard the assets of the Group and to prevent and detect
fraud and other irregularities.
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Independent auditors’ report to the members of Low & Bonar PLC

We have audited the financial statements on pages 34 to 55. We have also audited the information in the directors’ remuneration
report that is described as having been audited. 

This report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a body, in accordance with section 235 of the Companies Act 1985. Our
audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s members those matters we are required to state to them 
in an auditors’ report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to
anyone other than the Company and the Company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we
have formed. 

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors
The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the directors’ remuneration report. As described on page 32, this
includes responsibility for preparing the financial statements in accordance with applicable United Kingdom law and accounting
standards. Our responsibilities, as independent auditors, are established in the United Kingdom by statute, the Auditing Practices
Board, the Listing Rules of the Financial Services Authority, and by our profession’s ethical guidance. 

We report to you our opinion as to whether the financial statements give a true and fair view and whether the financial statements
and the part of the directors’ remuneration report to be audited have been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act
1985. We also report to you if, in our opinion, the directors’ report is not consistent with the financial statements, if the Company 
has not kept proper accounting records, if we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit, 
or if information specified by law regarding directors’ remuneration and transactions with the Group is not disclosed. 

We review whether the statement on pages 22 to 25 reflects the Company’s compliance with the nine provisions of the 2003 FRC
Code specified for our review by the Listing Rules, and we report if it does not. We are not required to consider whether the Board’s
statements on internal control cover all risks and controls, or form an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s corporate
governance procedures or its risk and control procedures.

We read the other information contained in the Annual Report, including the corporate governance statement and the unaudited 
part of the directors’ remuneration report, and consider whether it is consistent with the audited financial statements. We consider 
the implications for our report if we become aware of any apparent misstatements or material inconsistencies with the financial
statements. 

Basis of audit opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with Auditing Standards issued by the Auditing Practices Board. An audit includes examination,
on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements and the part of the directors’
remuneration report to be audited. It also includes an assessment of the significant estimates and judgements made by the directors 
in the preparation of the financial statements, and of whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the Group’s circumstances,
consistently applied and adequately disclosed. 

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information and explanations which we considered necessary in order 
to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements and the part of the directors’
remuneration report to be audited are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or other irregularity or error. 
In forming our opinion we also evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation of information in the financial statements and 
the part of the directors’ remuneration report to be audited. 

Opinion
In our opinion the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and the Group as at 
30 November 2004 and of the profit of the Group for the year then ended; and the financial statements and the part of the 
directors’ remuneration report to be audited have been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985.

KPMG Audit Plc Chartered accountants

Registered auditor, Nottingham

17 February 2005



34

Low & Bonar Annual report 2004

Consolidated profit and loss account
for the year ended 30 November 2004

2004 2003
Notes £000 £000

Turnover 1
Continuing 200,031 191,704
Acquisitions 1,620 –

201,651 191,704

Operating profit before amortisation of goodwill and exceptional costs 
Continuing 12,425 11,467
Acquisitions 272 –

12,697 11,467
Amortisation of goodwill
Continuing (579) (397)
Acquisitions (4) –

Operating profit before exceptional costs 12,114 11,070

Exceptional operating costs
Continuing (423) (925)

Operating profit 2
Continuing 11,423 10,145
Acquisitions 268 –

11,691 10,145
Net interest payable 6 (743) (953)

Profit on ordinary activities before taxation 1 10,948 9,192
Taxation on profit on ordinary activities 7 (3,422) (3,151)

Profit on ordinary activities after taxation 7,526 6,041
Minority interest – equity 20 (109) –

Profit for the financial year 7,417 6,041
Dividends (including non-equity) 8 (4,509) (4,201)

Transferred to reserves 19 2,908 1,840

Earnings per ordinary share before before amortisation of goodwill and exceptional costs 9 8.13p 6.97p

Earnings per ordinary share before exceptional costs 9 7.72p 6.69p

Basic earnings per ordinary share 9 7.43p 6.05p

Fully diluted earnings per ordinary share 9 7.27p 6.04p
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Balance sheets
at 30 November 2004

Group Company
2004 2003 2004 2003

Notes £000 £000 £000 £000

Fixed assets
Intangible assets 10 10,824 9,850 – –
Tangible assets 11 58,423 58,744 188 714
Investments 12 – – 93,122 93,122

69,247 68,594 93,310 93,836

Current assets
Stocks 13 33,681 32,098 – –
Debtors 14

– due within one year 44,605 43,317 83,585 83,042
– due after one year 7,281 5,746 7,266 5,728

51,886 49,063 90,851 88,770
Cash and short-term deposits 16 28,938 27,862 4,836 –

114,505 109,023 95,687 88,770

Creditors – due within one year 15
Bank and other borrowings 6,097 5,049 24,558 12,463
Other creditors 55,508 50,073 45,864 44,067

61,605 55,122 70,422 56,530

Net current assets 52,900 53,901 25,265 32,240

Total assets less current liabilities 122,147 122,495 118,575 126,076

Creditors – due after one year 15
Bank and other borrowings 7,888 12,427 6,750 9,750
Other creditors 2,969 3,061 – –

10,857 15,488 6,750 9,750

Provisions for liabilities and charges 17
Deferred taxation 5,169 4,634 – –

106,121 102,373 111,825 116,326

Capital and reserves
Equity and non–equity called up share capital 18 50,291 50,137 50,291 50,137
Share premium account 19 60,453 60,424 60,453 60,424
Exchange reserve 19 (7,542) (5,985) – –
Profit and loss account 19 770 (2,203) 1,081 5,765

Shareholders’ funds

– Equity 103,572 101,973 111,425 115,926
– Non–equity 400 400 400 400

103,972 102,373 111,825 116,326
Minority interest – equity 20 2,149 – – –

106,121 102,373 111,825 116,326

The accounts on pages 34 to 55 were approved by the Board of directors on 17 February 2005 and were signed on its behalf by:

R D Clegg Director    P A Forman Director



36

Low & Bonar Annual report 2004

Consolidated cash flow statement
for the year ended 30 November 2004

2004 2004 2003 2003
Notes £000 £000 £000 £000

Net cash inflow from operating activities 21 21,407 19,426
Interest received 573 496
Interest paid (1,403) (1,019)
Non-equity dividends paid (23) (23)

Returns on investments and servicing of finance (853) (546)

Tax paid (3,699) (1,949)
Purchase of tangible fixed assets (6,871) (3,892)
Sale of tangible fixed assets 614 667
Receipt of government grants – 140

Capital expenditure (6,257) (3,085)
Acquisition of subsidiaries 22 (2,405) (19,326)
Cash acquired with subsidiary 22 609 –
Sale of subsidiaries 23 65 39

Acquisitions and disposals (1,731) (19,287)

Equity dividends paid (4,278) (2,984)

Net cash inflow/(outflow) before management 
of liquid resources and financing 4,589 (8,425)

Management of liquid resources
Decrease in short-term deposits 2,200 6,800
Proceeds of share issues 183 –
Additional/(repayment of) loans due under one year 1,034 (3,329)
(Repayment of)/additional loans due after one year (4,500) 8,478

Financing (3,283) 5,149

Increase in cash 24 3,506 3,524

Reconciliation of net cash
Opening net cash 10,386 18,231
Exchange (205) 580
Net cash flow 4,772 (8,425)

Closing net cash 14,953 10,386
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Consolidated statement of total recognised gains and losses
for the year ended 30 November 2004

2004 2003
£000 £000

Profit for the financial year 7,417 6,041
Currency translation differences on overseas net investments and related borrowings (1,609) 3,144

Total recognised gains for the year 5,808 9,185

Reconciliation of movements in consolidated shareholders’ funds
for the year ended 30 November 2004

2004 2003
£000 £000

Profit for the financial year 7,417 6,041
Dividends (4,509) (4,201)

2,908 1,840

Other recognised gains and losses relating to the year (1,609) 3,144
New share capital subscribed 183 –

Long-Term Incentive Plan provision 117 450

Net increase in shareholders’ funds 1,599 5,434

Shareholders’ funds at start of year 102,373 96,939

Shareholders’ funds at end of year 103,972 102,373
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Accounting policies

i) Financial year end
The group operates to a calendar month-end accounting timetable. The accounts are for the year ended 30 November 2004.

ii) Accounting convention
The accounts have been prepared in accordance with applicable accounting standards. 

iii) Basis of consolidation
(a) The consolidated accounts include the results of the parent company and all subsidiaries. The acquisition method of accounting 

has been adopted. The results of companies acquired during the year are included from the effective date of acquisition.
Companies sold during the year are included up to the effective date of disposal.

(b) No profit and loss account is presented for Low & Bonar PLC, as permitted by section 230 of the Companies Act 1985.

iv) Goodwill
Prior to the introduction of FRS 10 “Goodwill and Intangible Assets”, goodwill arising on consolidation was written off against reserves
on acquisition. Since the adoption of FRS 10, goodwill is now capitalised and amortised through the profit and loss account over its
estimated useful life, not exceeding 20 years. Goodwill previously written off has not been reinstated. On any subsequent disposal of 
a business, any related goodwill written off against reserves will be charged to the profit and loss account in the year of disposal.

v) Tangible fixed assets
Assets acquired under finance leases are capitalised and outstanding instalments are included in creditors. The cost of fixed assets, except
freehold land, is reduced by annual depreciation on a straight line basis to net realisable value over the following estimated useful lives:

Freehold buildings 20 – 50 years
Plant and equipment 3 – 15 years

Leasehold property is depreciated on a straight line basis over the shorter of the life of the relevant lease, and the useful life of the property.

vi) Operating leases
Leasing payments are charged to the profit and loss account on a straight line basis.

vii) Government grants
Government grants in respect of capital expenditure are credited to the profit and loss account over the period of the estimated useful
life of the relevant fixed assets. The government grants shown in the balance sheet represent grants received or receivable to date, less
the amounts so far credited to the profit and loss account.

viii) Deferred taxation
The charge for taxation is based on the results for the year and takes into account taxation deferred because of timing differences
between the treatment of certain items for taxation and accounting purposes. Full provision for deferred taxation is made for all timing
differences as they arise, subject to a test of recoverability. The provision is not discounted.

No provision is made for the taxation liabilities that would arise if retained earnings of overseas subsidiary undertakings were remitted
to the United Kingdom, because there is no intention to remit such earnings by way of dividend.

ix) Stock valuation
Raw materials and bought-in components are valued on the basis of actual cost including freight and handling charges, or net
realisable value if lower.

Work-in-progress and finished goods are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost comprises material, labour and
attributable production overheads; in the case of certain overseas subsidiaries, cost on this basis is determined by reference to selling
price less a reduction to reduce inventory to production cost.

x) Research and development
Expenditure on research and development is written off against profits in the year in which it is incurred.

xi) Translation of foreign currencies
Assets and liabilities expressed in foreign currencies are translated into sterling at exchange rates ruling at the date of the balance
sheet. The results of overseas subsidiaries are translated into sterling at the average rate for the year. The effect of movement in
exchange rates on opening net assets of these companies and related borrowings is dealt with in reserves.

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated at the rate of exchange ruling on the date of the transaction.

xii) Pension costs
Pension schemes are in operation covering the majority of Group employees. Amounts charged against profits are calculated with
actuarial advice and represent a charge to cover the accruing liabilities on a continuing basis. Independent actuarial valuations of 
the schemes are made at least every three years.

xiii) LTIP
The Long-Term Incentive Plan has been accounted for in accordance with UITF 17 (amended December 2003) so as to spread the
anticipated cost to the Company over the associated performance period. The cost is included within administration expenses. 

xiv) Revenue recognition
Revenue (net of rebates and discounts) is recognised when substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are assumed by the customer.
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Notes to the accounts 

1 Segmental information
Turnover Profit Net assets

2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Classes of business
Floors 83,132 75,334 9,699 10,716 37,060 39,410
Yarns & Fabrics
– existing businesses 57,670 53,326 5,066 3,523 26,446 27,781
– acquisitions 1,620 – 268 – 3,725 –

Total Yarns & Fabrics 59,290 53,326 5,334 3,523 30,171 27,781

Total Specialist Materials 142,422 128,660 15,033 14,239 67,231 67,191

North European Plastics 23,617 23,257 1,066 926 11,599 12,409
South European Plastics 15,252 18,126 (306) (295) 5,756 6,259
North American Plastics 20,360 21,661 486 537 11,540 12,848

Total Plastics 59,229 63,044 1,246 1,168 28,895 31,516

201,651 191,704 16,279 15,407 96,126 98,707

Central costs (4,165) (4,337)

Pre-exceptional operating profit 12,114 11,070
Exceptional operating costs (423) (925)

Operating profit 11,691 10,145
Net interest (743) (953)

Group profit before taxation 10,948 9,192

Non-operating liabilities (4,958) (6,720)
Net cash 14,953 10,386

Total net assets 106,121 102,373

Geographical segments

By origin:
United Kingdom 69,438 60,559 7,603 9,225 37,719 35,761
Europe 110,233 109,484 7,925 5,654 42,901 49,893
North America 20,360 21,661 483 528 11,781 13,053
Asia 1,620 – 268 – 3,725 –

201,651 191,704 16,279 15,407 96,126 98,707

Central costs (4,165) (4,337)

Pre-exceptional operating profit 12,114 11,070
Exceptional operating costs (423) (925)

Operating profit 11,691 10,145
Net interest (743) (953)

Group profit before taxation 10,948 9,192

Non-operating liabilities (4,958) (6,720)
Net cash 14,953 10,386

Total net assets 106,121 102,373

Turnover by destination:
United Kingdom 49,735 41,899
Continental Europe 108,039 107,111
North America 29,041 31,053
Rest of World 14,836 11,641

201,651 191,704

Turnover represents external sales invoiced by Low & Bonar PLC and its subsidiaries. Turnover between segments is not material.
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Notes to the accounts continued

1 Segmental Information continued

Exceptional operating costs of £423,000 in 2004 (note 27) relate to legal costs incurred in responding to a statement of objections
received from the European Commission concerning an investigation into alleged anti-competitive practices in the European industrial
bags market. The Group exited this market in 1997. The costs do not relate to any of the Group’s current business.

Exceptional operating costs in 2003 relate to the Floors businesses. £434,000 was spent re-organising the existing business with 
a further £491,000 spent integrating the acquired carpet tile business.

The segment discloses the result of the divisions with central costs shown separately.

Non-operating liabilities represent other debtors greater than one year, tax and deferred tax, dividends, provisions and equity 
minority interests.

2 Operating profit
2004 2003
£000 £000

Turnover 201,651 191,704
Cost of sales (129,803) (122,386)

Gross profit 71,848 69,318

Distribution costs 12,708 11,265
Administration costs 47,449 47,908

Other operating costs 60,157 59,173

Operating profit 11,691 10,145

Operating profit is stated after charging/(crediting):

Exceptional operating costs:
European Commission claim legal defence 423 –
Bonar Floors restructuring – 434
Bonar Tiles integration – 491

423 925

Depreciation 7,553 8,733
Amortisation of goodwill 583 397
Research and development costs 1,810 1,666
Operating lease charges – plant 1,181 1,342

– buildings 702 644
Government grants (73) (83)
Auditors’ remuneration 321 304
Auditor and affiliates’ remuneration for non-audit work 355 376

The auditors’ remuneration for the Company, included above, was £77,000 (2003: £74,000).

The spend on non-audit fees of which £355,000 (2003: £376,000) was charged to operating profit and £53,000 (2003: £331,000)
was capitalised within acquisition costs (note 22) is analysed as follows:

Acquisition due diligence/planning 71 308
Corporate tax compliance 156 208
Corporate tax consultancy 94 95
Other 87 96 

408 707 

Total amounts paid to the auditors and affiliates during 2004 was £729,000 (2003: £1,011,000).
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3 Staff costs
2004 2003

Number Number

Average number of employees by activity:
Specialist materials 1,221 1,182
Plastics 1,032 1,039

2,253 2,221

2004 2003
£000 £000

Employee costs:
Wages and salaries 47,980 47,340
Social security costs 8,844 8,816
Other pension costs 2,617 2,521

59,441 58,677

4 Directors’ remuneration

Details of directors’ remuneration, share options, Long-Term Incentive Plan interests and pension entitlements are given in the
Directors’ report on remuneration on pages 26 to 31 and form part of the financial statements.

5 Directors’ interests

Details of directors’ interests in the share capital of the Company are given in the Directors’ report on remuneration on pages 26 to 31
and form part of the financial statements.

6 Net interest payable
2004 2003
£000 £000

Interest payable:
– on bank borrowings 1,286 1,237
– other 30 117

1,316 1,354
Interest receivable (573) (401)

743 953
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Notes to the accounts continued

7 Tax on profit on ordinary activities
2004 2003
£000 £000

Tax on profit on ordinary activities

United Kingdom corporation tax on the profits of the year 607 2,944
Overseas taxation 2,574 910

Total current tax 3,181 3,854

Adjustments to tax charged in previous years
United Kingdom corporation tax 106 (121)
Overseas taxation (410) 110

Current tax charge for the period 2,877 3,843

Deferred taxation 545 (692)

Total taxation expense for the year 3,422 3,151

Factors affecting the tax charge in the current period

Profit on ordinary activities before tax 10,948 9,192

Current tax at 30% (2003: 30%) 3,284 2,758

Effects of:
Permanently disallowable expenses (41) 1,032
Utilisation of tax losses (231) (738)
Related depreciation (greater)/less than capital allowances (289) 231
Current tax losses not utilised 275 469
Higher tax rates on overseas earnings 357 269
Other short-term timing differences (174) (189)
Adjustments to tax charged in previous years (304) 11

Current tax charge for the period 2,877 3,843

The undistributed profits of overseas subsidiaries are liable to taxation if distributed as dividends subject to set-off in respect of double
tax relief and ACT. There is no current intention to distribute profits of overseas subsidiaries where this would give rise to a significant
additional tax charge in the United Kingdom.

8 Dividends
2004 2003
£000 £000

On non-equity shares:
First, second and third cumulative preference stock
Half year to 31 May 2004 (paid) 11 11
Half year to 30 November 2004 (since paid) 12 12

23 23
On equity shares:
Ordinary shares
Interim dividend of 1.60p (2003: 1.50p) (paid) 1,592 1,492
Final dividend of 2.90p (2003: 2.70p) (proposed) 2,894 2,686

4,509 4,201
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9 Earnings per ordinary share
2004 2003
£000 £000

Profits are calculated as follows:
Profit after tax 7,526 6,041
Preference dividend (23) (23)
Minority interest (109) –

Profits attributable to equity shareholders 7,394 6,018

Exceptional operating costs 423 925
Tax relief thereon (134) (289)

Earnings before exceptional costs 7,683 6,654

Amortisation of goodwill 583 397
Tax relief thereon (174) (119)

Earnings before amortisation of goodwill and exceptional costs 8,092 6,932

Basic earnings per share 7.43p 6.05p

Earnings per share before exceptional costs 7.72p 6.69p

Earnings per share before amortisation of goodwill and exceptional costs 8.13p 6.97p

Fully diluted earnings per share 7.27p 6.04p

The two additional calculations of earnings per share before amortisation of goodwill and exceptional items and before exceptional
items are given in order to provide a more meaningful comparison of underlying performance.

The calculation of basic and pre-exceptional earnings per share is based on the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue
during the year of 99,526,756 (2003: 99,474,690). The calculation of fully diluted earnings per share is based on the ordinary shares 
in issue plus the dilutive effect of the Low & Bonar 1997 Share Save Scheme and the 2003 Low & Bonar Long-Term Incentive Plan
awards (to the extent to which the performance criteria had been achieved at 30 November 2004) being 2,133,080 shares (2003:
208,151). The number of shares included in the calculation of fully diluted earnings per share was 101,659,836 (2003: 99,682,841).
Other awards under the 2003 Long-Term Incentive Plan are non-dilutive as the shares concerned are treated on a contingent basis 
in accordance with the treatment prescribed by FRS 14. 

10  Intangible fixed assets
Goodwill

£000

Cost:
At 1 December 2003 10,247
Fair value adjustments relating to prior year acquisitions (note 22) 1,290
Additions (note 22) 267

At 30 November 2004 11,804

Amortisation:
At 1 December 2003 397
Charge for the year 583

At 30 November 2004 980

Net book value:
At 30 November 2004 10,824

At 1 December 2003 9,850
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11  Tangible fixed assets
Group Company

Land and Plant and Land and Plant and
buildings machinery Total buildings machinery Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Cost:
At 1 December 2003 41,371 112,184 153,555 1,946 1,044 2,990
Exchange adjustment (709) (1,036) (1,745) – – –
Acquisition of subsidiaries 963 1,047 2,010 – – –
Additions 346 6,406 6,752 29 51 80
Disposals (2,012) (3,836) (5,848) (1,694) (869) (2,563)
Transfers between categories 95 (95) – – – –

At 30 November 2004 40,054 114,670 154,724 281 226 507

Depreciation:
At 1 December 2003 13,904 80,907 94,811 1,294 982 2,276
Exchange adjustment (90) (739) (829) – – –
Disposals (1,445) (3,789) (5,234) (1,194) (860) (2,054)
Charge for the year 880 6,673 7,553 73 24 97
Transfers between categories (59) 59 – – – –

At 30 November 2004 13,190 83,111 96,301 173 146 319

Net book value:
At 30 November 2004 26,864 31,559 58,423 108 80 188

At 1 December 2003 27,467 31,277 58,744 652 62 714

Gross book value of land and buildings for the Group includes land £2,756,000 (2003: £3,489,000) which is not depreciated.

Gross book value of fixed assets for the Group includes assets in the course of construction £1,528,000 (2003: £227,000) which have
not been depreciated.

The aggregate amount of contracts for capital expenditure not provided in the accounts was £1,436,000 (2003: £67,000).

The net book value of land and buildings comprises:
Group Company

2004 2003 2004 2003
£000 £000 £000 £000

Freehold 25,683 27,128 – 500
Long leasehold 924 – – –
Short leasehold 257 339 108 152

26,864 27,467 108 652

12  Fixed asset investments
Subsidiaries

Cost Provisions Net
£000 £000 £000

Company
At 1 December 2003 and at 30 November 2004 97,519 (4,397) 93,122

Particulars of the Group’s interest in the issued share capital of principal subsidiaries are shown on page 56. 
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13  Stocks
2004 2003
£000 £000

Raw materials 9,091 8,221
Work-in-progress 3,767 3,732
Finished goods 20,823 20,145

33,681 32,098

14  Debtors
Due within Due after 2004 Due within Due after 2003

one year one year Total One year one year Total
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Group
Trade debtors 40,581 – 40,581 38,534 – 38,534
Other debtors and prepayments 3,656 7,281 10,937 3,791 5,746 9,537
UK taxation recoverable – – – 636 – 636
Overseas taxation recoverable 368 – 368 356 – 356

44,605 7,281 51,886 43,317 5,746 49,063

Company
Amounts owed by subsidiaries 81,029 – 81,029 82,741 – 82,741
Other debtors and prepayments 402 7,266 7,668 301 5,728 6,029
UK taxation recoverable 2,154 – 2,154 – – –

83,585 7,266 90,851 83,042 5,728 88,770

15  Creditors
2004 2004 2003 2003

Due within Due after Due within Due after
one year one year one year one year

£000 £000 £000 £000

Group
Bank loans and overdrafts (note 16) 6,097 7,888 5,049 12,427

Trade creditors 28,465 – 22,208 –
Bills of exchange payable 798 – 463 –
Social security and other taxes 4,939 – 4,521 –
UK taxation payable 1,819 – 3,085 –
Overseas taxation payable 2,038 – 2,231 –
Other creditors and accruals 14,373 2,885 14,706 2,979
Proposed dividends 2,906 – 2,698 –
Finance leases 170 84 161 82

Other creditors 55,508 2,969 50,073 3,061

Total creditors 61,605 10,857 55,122 15,488

Due within five years 10,599 14,957
Due after five years 258 531

10,857 15,488

Included within Group other creditors and accruals due within one year are government grants of £51,000 (2003: £126,000), 
an environmental accrual of £367,000 (note 27) (2003: £410,000) and an accrual for onerous leases of £292,000 (2003: £360,000). 

Included within Group other creditors and accruals due after one year are government grants of £225,000 (2003: £223,000).
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15  Creditors continued
2004 2004 2003 2003

Due within Due after Due within Due after
one year one year one year one year

£000 £000 £000 £000

Company
Bank loans and overdrafts 24,558 6,750 12,463 9,750

Amounts owed to subsidiaries 38,979 – 39,176 –
Social security and other taxes 59 – 50 –
UK taxation payable 2,238 – 624 –
Other creditors and accruals 1,682 – 1,519 –
Proposed dividends 2,906 – 2,698 –

Other creditors 45,864 – 44,067 –

Total creditors 70,422 6,750 56,530 9,750

Due within five years 6,750 9,750

16  Financial instruments

The information in this note should be read in conjunction with the Financial review on page 15 which discusses the management 
of foreign exchange and interest rate risk. Short-term debtors and creditors have been excluded from the disclosures in this note.
Information on preference shares is shown separately at (ix).

i) Financial liabilities
The profile of the financial liabilities was as follows:

Borrowings
2004 2004 2003 2003

Under Over Under Over
one year one year one year one year

£000 £000 £000 £000

Currency:
Sterling 3,696 6,750 3,160 9,750
Euro 1,531 1,138 1,581 2,677
Canadian dollar 832 – 308 –
Other 38 – – –

6,097 7,888 5,049 12,427

ii) Financial assets
The Group held the following financial assets:

2004 2003
£000 £000

Interest bearing:
Sterling cash 236 13
Sterling deposits 4,800 7,000
Euro cash 18,659 17,785
US dollar cash 4,279 2,066
Other currencies cash 964 998

28,938 27,862

Cash and deposits are placed on short-term maturities to a maximum of three months at relevant market rates for the maturity
concerned.

iii) Interest rate profile
All borrowings, with the exception of euro denominated borrowings of £2,655,000 (2003: £4,180,000) with a weighted average
interest rate of 5.80% and a weighted average period of 1.43 years (2003: 1.91 years), are at floating rates, with interest rates set
between one day and three months by reference to the benchmark rate for the relevant currency, Libor in Sterling and its equivalent 
for other currencies.



47

16  Financial instruments continued

iv) Maturity of borrowings
2004 2003
£000 £000

Within one year 6,097 5,049
Between one and two years 4,138 4,536
Between two and five years 3,750 7,891

13,985 17,476

v) Borrowing facilities
The Group has various undrawn committed borrowing facilities. The undrawn facilities available in respect of which all conditions
precedent had been met were as follows:

2004 2003
£000 £000

Expiring within one year – 11,386
Expiring after two years 15,000 15,000

15,000 26,386

vi) Currency risk
After taking account of forward currency contracts, the net transactional currency exposure on monetary assets and liabilities was 
not material.

vii) Fair values
The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are not materially different from their book values.

viii) Hedges
As explained in the Financial review on page 15, the Group’s policy is to partially hedge overseas assets. The exchange movement on
the net assets of overseas subsidiaries less the movement on the related borrowings is recognised through the exchange reserve each
year.

The Group utilises forward foreign exchange contracts to fix exchange rates on certain transactions in foreign currencies. These relate
to normal trading transactions and the unrecognised gain or loss on the hedges of the balance sheet date is not material.

ix) Preference shares
2004 2004 2003 2003

Book value Fair value Book value Fair value
£000 £000 £000 £000

6% first cumulative preference stock 100 70 100 83
6% second cumulative preference stock 100 98 100 98
5.5% third cumulative preference stock 200 156 200 156

The preference shares do not have set maturity dates. Fair values are based on the prices quoted in the London Stock Exchange Daily
Official List.

17 Provision for liabilities and charges
Accelerated Other

capital timing
allowances differences Total

£000 £000 £000

Group
Deferred taxation:
At 1 December 2003 4,634 – 4,634
Exchange adjustment (7) (3) (10)
Transfer to profit and loss account 663 (118) 545

At 30 November 2004 5,290 (121) 5,169

As at the year end unprovided deferred tax assets principally relating to prior year losses are £7,787,000 (2003: £8,171,000). 
Any short-term timing differences in the Company are offset by losses carried forward.
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18  Share capital
2004 2003
£000 £000

Authorised
100,000 (2003: 100,000) 6% first cumulative preference stock of £1.00 each 100 100
100,000 (2003: 100,000) 6% second cumulative preference stock of £1.00 each 100 100
200,000 (2003: 200,000) 5.5% third cumulative preference stock of £1.00 each 200 200
132,000,000 (2003: 132,000,000) ordinary shares of 50p each 66,000 66,000

66,400 66,400

Allotted, called up and fully paid
Non-equity:
6% first cumulative preference stock 100 100
6% second cumulative preference stock 100 100
5.5% third cumulative preference stock 200 200

400 400
Equity:
99,781,652 (2003: 99,474,690) ordinary shares of 50p each 49,891 49,737

50,291 50,137

Preference shares have priority over ordinary shares on winding up of the Company. Provided that preference dividends remain paid 
in accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association, preference shares do not carry voting rights.

During the year, 306,962 ordinary shares of 50p each were allotted in respect of options exercised under the Low & Bonar 1997
Sharesave Scheme.

Share option schemes
1 The Low & Bonar Savings Related Share Option Scheme

No options were granted during the year under review. There will be no further options granted under the Scheme.
No options were exercised during the year under review. 1,259 options lapsed during the year.
The following options were outstanding at 30 November 2004:

Acquisition price
Number per share Dates

of shares p exercisable

3,787 210 2005

2 The Low & Bonar 1997 Sharesave Scheme
306,962 options were exercised during the year. 244,062 options lapsed during the year.
379,590 options were granted during the year.
The following options were outstanding at 30 November 2004:

Acquisition price
Number per share Dates

of shares p exercisable

1,749,895 51 to 278 2004 to 2010

3 The Low & Bonar 1994 (No. 1) Management Share Option Scheme
No options were granted during the year under review. (There will be no further options granted under the scheme.) 
No options were exercised or lapsed during the year.
The following options were outstanding at 30 November 2004:

Acquisition price
Number per share Dates

of shares p exercisable

6,900 429 2004 to 2007
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4 The Low & Bonar 1994 (No. 2) Management Share Option Scheme
No options were granted during the year under review. (There will be no further options granted under this scheme.)
No options were exercised during the year. 43,000 options lapsed during the year.
The following options were outstanding at 30 November 2004:

Acquisition price
Number per share Dates

of shares p exercisable

61,100 318.5 to 429 2004 to 2008

5 The 1999 Low & Bonar Senior Executive Long-Term Incentive Plan awards
All awards held by executives lapsed during the year as the performance conditions had not been met. 

Shares Awarded Shares lapsed Awarded shares
awarded price during outstanding
in 2001 p the year on 30/11/04

592,340 96 592,340 Nil

6 The Low & Bonar 2003 Long-Term Incentive Plan (the “2003 LTIP”)
Awards held by executives at 30 November 2003 under the 2003 LTIP were:

Award Shares lapsed Awarded shares
Date of Shares price during outstanding Date of which
award awarded p the year on 30/11/04 releasable

28/03/2003 1,544,024 53.64 (203,607) 1,340,417 28/03/2006
11/07/2003 357,101 53.64 – 357,101 11/07/2006
01/03/2004 155,707 83.49 – 155,707 01/03/2007
09/07/2004 87,316 108.80 – 87,316 09/07/2007

The vesting of the above awards in part or in full are subject to the fulfilment of the performance conditions set at the time the
awards were made. Full details of the performance conditions are provided in the Directors’ report on remuneration on page 27. 

946,363 share options were granted to senior executives during the year under the rules of the 2003 LTIP. No executives who 
had previously been awarded Long-Term Incentive Plan awards under the 2003 LTIP were granted share options.

Acquisition price
Number per share Dates

of shares p exercisable

946,363 112.5 2007 to 2014

372,176 phantom share options were granted to senior executives during the year under the rules of the 2003 LTIP. No executives 
who had previously been awarded Long-Term Incentive Plan awards under the 2003 LTIP were granted phantom share options.

Acquisition price
Number per share Dates

of shares p exercisable

372,176 112.5 2007 to 2014

The vesting of these options are subject to the fulfilment of the performance conditions set at the time the awards were made.

Phantom share option holders have the opportunity to receive a cash payment equivalent to the gain on the exercise of options
that would have been made by a share option holder choosing to exercise an equivalent number of options granted at the same
time and price.



50

Low & Bonar Annual report 2004

Notes to the accounts continued

19  Reserves
Group Company
£000 £000

Share premium account
At 1 December 2003 60,424 60,424
Shares issued 29 29

At 30 November 2004 60,453 60,453

Exchange reserve
At 1 December 2003 (5,985) –
Adjustment on translation of currency loans to fund overseas investments (218) –
Adjustment on translation of net assets and results of overseas subsidiaries (1,391) –
Transfer on repayment of currency loans to fund overseas investments 52 –

At 30 November 2004 (7,542) –

Profit and loss account
At 1 December 2003 (2,203) 5,765
Profit/(loss) for the year 2,908 (4,801)
Transfer from exchange reserve (52) –
Credit in respect of Long-Term Incentive Plan 117 117

At 30 November 2004 770 1,081

The goodwill written off directly to reserves in prior years was £44,093,000, (2003: £44,093,000).
2004 2003

Company Company
£000 £000

Company reconciliation of shareholders’ funds
Loss for the financial year (292) (2,362)
Dividends (4,509) (4,201)

Result for the year (4,801) (6,563)
Other recognised gains and losses 117 450
Share capital issued 183 –

Net decrease in shareholders’ funds (4,501) (6,113)
Shareholders’ funds at start of year 116,326 122,439

Shareholders’ funds at end of year 111,825 116,326

20 Minority interest
2004
£000

At 1 December 2003 –
Arising upon initial consolidation (note 22) 2,130
Share of profit after tax 109
Exchange adjustment (90)

At 30 November 2004 2,149
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21  Net cash inflow from operating activities
2004 2003
£000 £000

Operating profit 11,691 10,145
Depreciation 7,553 8,733
Amortisation 583 397
Write back of government grants (73) (83)
Increase in stocks (2,230) (1,802)
Increase in debtors (2,963) (1,471)
Increase in creditors 6,729 3,057
Credit in respect of Long-Term Incentive Plan 117 450

Net cash inflow from operating activities 21,407 19,426

22  Acquisitions

Current year
On 31 July 2004, the Group purchased a 50.1% investment in an investment vehicle which was then used to purchase the trade and
assets of Yihua Polytiles Company Limited, from Yihua Corporation, a subsidiary of Sinopec. The business was subsequently renamed
Yihua Bonar Yarns & Fabrics Co., Ltd. (Yihua Bonar). The cash investment made by Low & Bonar into Yihua Bonar was £2,181,000.
There is no deferred consideration. The Group incurred costs of £224,000 associated with the acquisition, of which £53,000 were 
non-audit fees paid to KPMG. The Group may, at its own option, and by licensing its proprietary technology to the business, increase
its investment to 60%.

Book Fair value Fair
value adjustments value
£000 £000 £000

Fixed assets 2,010 – 2,010
Stocks 932 (60) 872
Debtors – due within one year 789 – 789
Creditors – due within one year (12) – (12)
Cash 609 – 609

Net assets acquired 4,328 (60) 4,268

50.1% share of net assets acquired 2,138
Purchase consideration, including costs 2,405

Goodwill arising on acquisition 267

The fair value adjustment of £60,000 relates to the downwards revaluation of stocks to their replacement cost.

Goodwill is capitalised on the balance sheet and will be amortised through the profit and loss account over its estimated useful life.
The directors consider that the estimated useful life of the goodwill arising on consolidation of Yihua Bonar is 20 years.

The equity minority interest arising on initial consolidation was £2,130,000 (note 20).

Prior year
Provisional fair values allocated to the acquisition of the carpet tiles business from Gaskell PLC in February 2003 were reported in the
financial statements for the year ended 30 November 2003. The fair values of the assets acquired have been revised, in accordance
with FRS 7, from £9,079,000 to £7,789,000. The revision is due to the revaluation of stocks to their replacement cost, amounting 
to £1,024,000 and the provision of obsolete inventory of £266,000, a total adjustment of £1,290,000. Hence goodwill arising on
acquisition is now £11,537,000

23  Disposal of subsidiary

The Group disposed of its Italian Plastics subsidiary, Spila Srl, on 31 July 2002. Initial purchase consideration (net of costs), of £90,000 
was received in the year ended 30 November 2002. Deferred cash consideration of £39,000 was received during the year ended 
30 November 2003, and further deferred consideration of £65,000 was received during the year ended 30 November 2004. 
No further consideration is receivable in respect of this disposal.
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24  Reconciliation and analysis of net cash
Short-term Borrowings Borrowings

bank under over Net
Cash deposits one year one year cash/(debt)
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

At 1 December 2002 16,331 13,800 (8,030) (3,870) 18,231
Cash flow 3,524 (6,800) 3,329 (8,478) (8,425)
Exchange rate fluctuations 1,007 – (348) (79) 580

At 1 December 2003 20,862 7,000 (5,049) (12,427) 10,386
Cash flow 3,506 (2,200) (1,034) 4,500 4,772
Exchange rate fluctuations (230) – (14) 39 (205)

At 30 November 2004 24,138 4,800 (6,097) (7,888) 14,953

2004 2003
Cash Cash
£000 £000

Per balance sheet 28,938 27,862
Short-term bank deposits included (4,800) (7,000)

As above 24,138 20,862

25  Pensions

The Group operates a number of pension schemes in the UK and overseas. 

The overseas schemes are defined contribution schemes with the exception of Belgium which is a defined benefit scheme. The Belgian
defined benefit scheme is not material to the Group.

The UK defined benefit scheme was independently valued by a qualified actuary at 31 March 2002. The main assumption in carrying
out the valuation was for investment returns to exceed earnings increases by 2.25%. At 31 March 2002 the total market value of
assets in the UK scheme was £118.6m. The overall level of funding was 102%. The profit and loss account charge for the year of the
UK pension scheme was £1.3m (2003: £1.3m).

The Company has agreed with the trustees of the UK defined benefit scheme a schedule of contributions to fund a deficit under the
Minimum Funding Requirement. Under this agreement the Company pays contributions of £2,080,000 per calendar year. Payments
started in May 2003.

A prepayment of £7,266,000 (2003: £5,728,000) included in debtors due after one year (note 14), is the cumulative excess of
contributions paid over the SSAP 24 pension cost.

FRS 17 disclosures
The pension cost figures used in these accounts comply with the current pension cost accounting standard SSAP 24. Under the
deferred accounting standard FRS 17, the following disclosures are included and specifically show the impact on the balance sheet 
of the new standard should it be adopted.

The results of applying FRS 17 show a significant deficit.

The Company has taken the multi-employer exemption with relation to the Group pension scheme. The Company is a member of a
pension scheme providing benefits based on final pensionable pay. Because the Company is unable to identify its share of the scheme
assets and liabilities on a consistent and reasonable basis, as permitted by FRS 17 “Retirement Benefits” the scheme will be accounted
for by the Company when the accounting standard is fully adopted by the Company as if the scheme was a defined contribution
scheme.

A full actuarial valuation was carried out at 31 March 2002 and updated to 30 November 2004 by a qualified independent actuary. 
A further full actuarial valuation will be carried out at 31 March 2005.

The major assumptions used by the actuary were:
2004 2003 2002 2001

Rate of increase in salaries 4.25% 4.00% 3.75% 3.25%
Rate of increase of pensions in payment 2.75% 2.50% 2.25% 2.25%
Discount rate 5.30% 5.50% 5.75% 5.50%
Inflation assumption 2.75% 2.50% 2.25% 2.25%
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25  Pensions continued

The assets in the scheme and the expected rates of return (before deduction for expenses) were:

2004 2003 2002 2001
% £000 % £000 % £000 % £000

Equities 7.50 83,577 8.00 78,490 7.75 75,602 7.50 99,963
Bonds 5.00 22,812 5.25 19,990 4.75 19,958 4.50 24,925
Others 4.50 1,930 5.00 2,343 4.75 1,044 4.50 7,232

Total market value of assets 108,319 100,823 96,604 132,120
Actuarial value of liability (139,822) (132,720) (122,974) (136,810)

Deficit in the scheme (31,503) (31,897) (26,370) (4,690)
Related deferred tax asset 9,451 9,569 7,911 1,407

Net pension liability (22,052) (22,328) (18,459) (3,283)

Analysis of the amount charged to operating profit:
2004 2003
£000 £000

Current service cost 830 768

Analysis of amount credited to other finance income:
2004 2003
£000 £000

Expected return on pension scheme assets 6,891 6,309
Interest on pension liabilities (7,129) (6,918)

Net return (238) (609)

Analysis of amount recognised in the consolidated statement of total recognised gains and losses:
The actual return less expected return on assets was a gain of £4,946,000, (representing 4.6% of year-end scheme assets) 
(2003: gain of £2,737,000). The experience gains and losses on liabilities was a gain of £1,501,000 (representing 1.1% of year-end
scheme liabilities) (2003: loss of £373,000). The effect of changes in assumptions resulted in a loss of £7,680,000 (2003: loss of
£7,791,000). Consequently the net loss recognised is £1,233,000 (representing 0.9% of year-end present value of scheme liabilities)
(2003: loss of £5,427,000).

2004 2003 2002
£000 £000 £000

Actual return less expected return on assets 4,946 2,737 (38,522)
Experience gains and losses on liabilities 1,501 (373) 13,247
Changes in assumptions (7,680) (7,791) 3,445

Actuarial loss recognised (1,233) (5,427) (21,830)

Movement in deficit during the year:
2004 2003
£000 £000

Deficit in scheme at beginning of year (31,897) (26,370)
Movement in year:
Current service cost (830) (768)
Contributions 2,695 1,277
Net return on assets (238) (609)
Actuarial loss (1,233) (5,427)

Deficit in scheme at the end of the year (31,503) (31,897)

The actuarial review at 30 November 2004 showed a reduction in the deficit from £31.9m to £31.5m.
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25  Pensions continued

Balance sheet presentation:
2004 2003
£000 £000

Net assets at 30 November 106,121 102,373
Less pension prepayment (7,266) (5,728)

Net assets excluding pension liability 98,855 96,645
Pension liability (22,052) (22,328)

Net assets including FRS 17 pension liability 76,803 74,317

Profit and loss reserve excluding pension liability:
2004 2003
£000 £000

Profit and loss reserve at 30 November 770 (2,203)
Less pension prepayment (7,266) (5,728)

(6,496) (7,931)
Pension liability (22,052) (22,328)

Profit and loss reserve after inclusion of pension liability under FRS 17 (28,548) (30,259)

26  Commitments under operating leases
Group Company

2004 2003 2004 2003
£000 £000 £000 £000

Plant
Amount payable next year where lease expires:
Within one year 594 597 5 5
Within two to five years 937 1,136 10 10
After five years – 3 – –

1,531 1,736 15 15

Buildings
Amount payable next year where lease expires:
Within one year 527 262 – –
Within two to five years 829 538 80 80
After five years – 125 – –

1,356 925 80 80
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27  Contingent liabilities

At the time of disposing of the Group’s North American packaging operations in March 2000, the Company entered into an
Environmental Agreement with the purchasers of the business. The Agreement contains provisions regarding the remediation 
of known environmental contamination in the vicinity of one of the facilities which was sold in Burlington, Ontario. Under the 
terms of the Agreement, the Company has to contribute to ongoing remediation expenses and claims to a maximum of C$64m. 
The Environmental Agreement expires in September 2006. At 30 November 2004, an accrual of £367,000 (2003: £410,000) 
remains in the Group’s balance sheet for remediation costs. In 2003 a claim which was known at the time of disposal was settled 
for a cost of £208,000.

In May 2004, the Company and a number of its subsidiaries received a statement of objections from the European Commission into
alleged anti-competitive practices in the European industrial bags market, a market that the Group exited in 1997. A hearing was held
at the end of July 2004 at which the Group was represented. A decision is anticipated to be made during 2005. No provision has been
made at 30 November 2004, as it is not possible to reliably measure any obligation that the Group may be required to meet as a result
of this enquiry. Legal fees of £423,000 have been incurred in defending the Group’s position and have been recorded as an operating
exceptional cost.

In addition, Low & Bonar PLC has guaranteed certain obligations of its subsidiaries arising in the normal course of trade.

28  Rates of exchange
2004 2003

Average Year end Average Year end
to the £ to the £ to the £ to the £

The rates of exchange used were as follows:
Canadian dollar 2.37 2.27 2.32 2.24
US dollar 1.82 1.91 1.63 1.72
Danish krone 10.94 10.69 10.85 10.68
Euro 1.47 1.44 1.46 1.44
Polish zloty 6.72 6.02 6.37 6.72
Chinese renminbi 15.19 15.83 – –

29  Post balance sheet event

On 7 December 2004, the Company completed the acquisition of LCM Construction Products Ltd. (trading as ADFIL), for a cash
consideration of £12.8m subject to adjustment. Of the total consideration, £9.8m was paid in December 2004, a further £2.1m is
deferred in equal tranches over the period 2005 to 2007, and a further £0.9m is contingent upon future operating performance over
the period 2005 to 2007. The previous shareholders of LCM Construction Products Ltd. were Lloyds TSB Development Capital and the
existing management team. The management team will remain with the business.
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at 30 November 2004

Subsidiary undertakings Principal product areas Country %

Floors
Bonar Floors Limited Floorcoverings Scotland *100.0
Bonar Floors SAS Floorcoverings France 100.0
Bonar Floors GmbH Floorcoverings Germany 100.0
Bonar Floors NV Floorcoverings Netherlands 100.0
Bonar Floors Ltd Floorcoverings Hong Kong 100.0
Bonar Tiles Limited Carpet tiles England 100.0

Yarns & Fabrics
Bonar Yarns & Fabrics Limited Polypropylene products Scotland *100.0
Bonar Technical Fabrics NV Polypropylene products Belgium 100.0
Yihua Bonar Yarns & Fabrics Co., Ltd. Polypropylene products People’s Republic of China 50.1

North European Plastics
Bonar Plastics A/S Rotationally moulded plastics Denmark 100.0
Bonar Plastics GmbH Rotationally moulded plastics Germany 100.0
Bonar Plastics Polska Sp.z o.o Rotationally moulded plastics Poland 100.0
Bonar Plastics BV Rotationally moulded plastics Netherlands 100.0

South European Plastics
Bonar Plastics France SAS Rotationally moulded plastics France 100.0
Bonar Plastics Nord SAS Rotationally moulded plastics France 100.0
Bonar Plastics Est SAS Rotationally moulded plastics France 100.0
Bonar Plastics Ouest SAS Rotationally moulded plastics France 100.0
Bonar Plastics SA Rotationally moulded plastics Spain 100.0

North American Plastics
Bonar Plastics Corporation Rotationally moulded plastics Canada 100.0
Bonar Plastics Inc Rotationally moulded plastics USA 100.0

Holding companies
Bonar International Holdings Limited Holding company Scotland *100.0
Bonar International Sarl Holding company Luxembourg 100.0
Low & Bonar Nederland BV Holding company Netherlands 100.0
Bonar Corporation Holding company USA 100.0
Bonar Tiles Holdings Limited Holding company England *100.0

Notes
1 Unless otherwise stated, shares held are ordinary, common or unclassified.
2 The percentage of the nominal value of issued shares held is shown following the name of each company.
3 *An asterisk indicates that the percentage of share capital shown is held directly by Low & Bonar PLC.
4 A number of subsidiary undertakings, the trading results and assets of which are not material in relation to the Group as a whole, have been omitted from 

the above list. In compliance with the Companies Act 1985, particulars of these undertakings will be annexed to the next annual return.
5 The companies listed were incorporated in the country shown against each of them and with the exception of Bonar Floors Limited, which operates mainly 

in England, that country is also the principal country of operation.
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Notice of annual general meeting

Notice is hereby given that the ninety-third annual general meeting of Low & Bonar PLC (“the Company”) will be held at the offices 
of ABN Amro, 250 Bishopsgate, London EC2M 4AA on Wednesday 20 April 2005 at 1 pm, for the purpose of transacting the
following business:

Ordinary business

1 To receive the accounts of the Company for the year ended 30 November 2004 together with the reports of the directors and
auditors.

2 To declare a final dividend of 2.9 pence per ordinary share of the Company payable on 27 April 2005 to shareholders on the
register at the close of business on 1 April 2005.

3 To re-elect Mr J Kempster as a director.

4 To re-elect Mr C Littmoden as a director.

5 To re-appoint KPMG Audit Plc as auditors of the Company to hold office from the conclusion of the meeting until the next meeting
at which accounts are laid.

6 To authorise the directors to determine the auditors’ remuneration.

Special business

7 To consider and, if thought fit, pass the following resolution as an ordinary resolution:

To approve the directors’ report on remuneration for the year ended 30 November 2004.

8 To consider and, if thought fit, pass the following resolution as an ordinary resolution:

That the directors be and are hereby generally and unconditionally authorised for the purposes of Section 80 of the Companies Act
1985 to exercise all the powers of the Company to allot relevant securities (within the meaning of that Section) up to a maximum
aggregate nominal amount of £16,450,000 (32,900,000 shares), being approximately 33% of the ordinary share capital currently 
in issue, provided that this authority shall expire at the conclusion of the next annual general meeting of the Company, but so that
it shall allow the Company to make offers or agreements before the expiry of such authority which would or might require relevant
securities to be allotted after its expiry and the directors may allot relevant securities in pursuance of such offer or agreement
notwithstanding that the authority conferred has expired. 

9 To consider, and if thought fit, pass the following resolution as a special resolution:

That subject to the passing of resolution 8 above, the directors be and they are hereby generally and unconditionally authorised
pursuant to Section 95 of the Companies Act 1985 to allot equity securities (within the meaning of Section 94 of the Act) for cash
pursuant to the authority conferred by that resolution as if Section 89(1) of the Companies Act 1985 did not apply to any such
allotment, provided that this power shall:

a) be limited to the allotment of equity securities:
i) in connection with an issue (whether by way of rights issue, open offer or otherwise) in favour of holders of ordinary shares

on the register on a fixed date in proportion (as nearly as may be practicable) to their then respective holdings of such shares,
but subject to such exclusions or other arrangements as the directors deem necessary or expedient in relation to fractional
entitlements or any legal or practical requirements under the laws of any territory, or the requirements of any regulatory body,
stock or investment exchange, in any territory; and 

ii) otherwise than pursuant to sub-paragraph (i) above, up to an aggregate nominal amount of £2,494,500 (4,989,000 shares),
being approximately 5% of the ordinary share capital currently in issue, and 

b) expire (unless previously renewed, varied or revoked by the Company in general meeting) at the conclusion of the next annual
general meeting of the Company but so that it shall allow the Company to make offers or agreements before its expiry which
would or might require equity securities to be allotted after its expiry and the directors may allot equity securities in pursuance 
of such offer or agreement notwithstanding that the authority hereby conferred has expired.
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10 To consider, and, if thought fit, pass the following resolution as a special resolution:

That, pursuant to Article 14 of the Company's Articles of Association and in accordance with Section 166 of the Companies Act
1985, the Company be and is hereby generally and unconditionally authorised, during the period ending at the conclusion of the
next annual general meeting of the Company after the passing of this resolution, to make market purchases (as defined in Section
163 of the Companies Act 1985) of the Company's ordinary shares, on such terms and in such manner as the directors may
determine, provided that this authority shall:

i) be limited to a maximum of 9,978,000 ordinary shares, having an aggregate nominal value of £4,989,000, being approximately
10% of the ordinary share capital currently in issue;

ii) not permit the Company to pay less than 50p per ordinary share or more than 5% above the average of the middle market
quotations (as derived from the London Stock Exchange Daily Official List) for the ordinary shares for the five business days
immediately preceding the day of purchase (in each case exclusive of expenses); and

iii) permit the Company to make a purchase of its ordinary shares after the expiry of this authority if the contract of purchase was
concluded before the authority expired.

By order of the Board
Amanda Whalley, Company Secretary

Mimet House Registered Office:
5A Praed Street 50 Castle Street
London W2 1NJ Dundee DD1 3RU

10 March 2005

Notes
1 A member of the Company entitled to attend and vote is entitled to appoint a proxy to attend and, on a poll, vote instead of him or her. A proxy need not be a

shareholder of the Company. To be effective, forms of proxy must be lodged at the offices of the Company's registrar, Computershare Services PLC, PO Box 1075, 
Bristol BS99 3ZZ not less than 48 hours before the time of the meeting. Completion and return of the proxy will not prevent a shareholder of ordinary shares from
attending the meeting and voting in person. Only ordinary shareholders are entitled to attend and vote at the annual general meeting.

2 Pursuant to Regulation 41 of the Uncertificated Securities Regulations 2001, the Company gives notice that only those shareholders entered on the register of members
of the Company at 6.00 pm on 18 April 2005 or, in the event that the meeting is adjourned, on the register of members 48 hours before the time of the adjourned
meeting, shall be entitled to attend or vote at the meeting in respect of the number of shares registered in their name at that time. Changes to entries on the relevant
register of members after 6.00 pm on 18 April 2005 or, in the event that the meeting is adjourned, on the register of members 48 hours before the time of the
adjourned meeting, shall be disregarded in determining the rights of any person to attend or vote at the meeting.

3 The register of interests and transactions of directors in the shares of the Company will be made available for inspection at the registered office of the Company during
normal business hours up to and including the date of the annual general meeting and on that day at the meeting from 12.45 pm until the conclusion of the meeting.
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Five-year summary

2001
2004 2003 2002 Restated 2000

£m £m £m £m £m

Turnover 201.7 191.7 162.6 171.9 305.4

Operating profit before exceptional costs 12.1 11.1 7.7 10.0 21.4
Profit/(loss) before tax 10.9 9.2 4.5 (8.2) (34.1)
Profit/(loss) after tax 7.5 6.0 2.1 (11.0) (45.7)

Fixed assets 69.2 68.6 57.5 63.1 77.3
Other net assets 21.9 23.4 21.2 20.2 27.4
Net cash 15.0 10.4 18.2 14.9 13.6

Net assets employed 106.1 102.4 96.9 98.2 118.3

Per 50p ordinary share

Earnings before exceptional items 7.72p 6.69p 4.88p 6.14p 11.54p
Basic earnings per share 7.43p 6.05p 2.08p (11.35p) (46.00p)
Dividends per share 4.50p 4.20p 4.00p 6.00p 6.00p

Figures for years 2001 onwards include accounting for deferred tax in line with FRS 19 “Deferred Tax”. It has not been practicable 
to restate 2000.
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Financial calendar

Annual general meeting 20 April 2005

Announcement of results
For the year ended 30 November 2005
Half year July 2005
Year February 2006

Dividend payments for the year ended 30 November 2004
Ordinary shares – interim 4 October 2004
Ordinary shares – final 27 April 2005
First, second and third cumulative preference stock 1 March, 1 September
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